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Statement of Compliance  
 
 

 
The Hon Brendon Grylls MLA 
Minister for Regional Development; Lands  
Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development  
Level 9, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 
 
 
 
 
In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Kimberley Development Commission for the financial year ending 30 June 2013. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and Section 32 of the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993. 
 

 
 
Cr Ralph Addis 
Chairperson 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
 

 
 
Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Accountable Officer 
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Overview  
 
Executive Summary  
 
2012/2013 has been a significant year for the Commission in which it has contributed to 
substantial progress in a range of projects, reviewed its operations and reassessed its regional 
development priorities.  
 
New priority initiatives include: commencing the development of a pipeline of West Kimberley 
projects including a new Aboriginal housing project that will see up to 60 houses for Aboriginal 
people in employment; the preparation of a Kimberley Housing Strategy in partnership with the 
Department of Housing; partnering the Department of Transport and other agencies to progress 
planning and construction of the Broome Boating Facility; early stage consideration of the 
development criteria that sustain enhanced regional centres; and the identification of new major 
projects for funding across the region. 
 
To support and guide this refocus the Commission has undertaken a review of its functionality, 
prepared a three year Operational Business Plan, enhanced engagement with regional 
stakeholders and the Regional Development Council and commenced preparation of a 
Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint. Of note is that such a comprehensive assessment of 
existing and required infrastructure and services in the Kimberley has not previously been 
undertaken. 
 
The Commission has continued to work with an extensive range of project partners to progress 
Royalties for Regions funded projects across the region. These include the Kimberley Aboriginal 
Community Housing project, an alternate Aboriginal housing model for Aboriginal people in 
employment, with ten houses now occupied on Miriuwung Gajerrong communities, near 
Kununurra and a further seven nearing completion in Fitzroy Crossing. 
 
The Cabinet appointed Taskforce, chaired by the Commission’s Chief Executive to rebuild the 
Warmun Aboriginal Community after its devastation in March 2011, has completed its role in 
partnership with Warmun residents and a range of committed agencies. 
 
The Ord Enhancement Scheme, established under the Ord Final Agreement between the 
Miriuwung Gajerrong (MG) Traditional Owners and the State Government to improve service 
delivery to MG people, and which the Commission administered and supported, has been 
transitioned to MG Corp. This will provide the foundations with which MG people can continue a 
range of programs and implement other initiatives to enhance their social outcomes, beyond the 
extended timeline of the scheme. 
 
The Commission’s multi-facetted role in supporting the implementation of the major Ord/East 
Kimberley Expansion Project, as that is completed, is refocusing to support the proposed 
agricultural development on the new land and also assist Government in its planning work with 
the Northern Territory Government to extend the agricultural land expansion in Western 
Australia and over the border in the Northern Territory. 
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These outcomes have been achieved with an FTE of up to 12. Simultaneously, the Commission 
has transitioned corporate services from the Department of Treasury’s Office of Shared 
Services to the Department of Regional Development’s cluster model, complied with legislation 
and government policy; and matched its key performance indicators in effectiveness and 
efficiency.  
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Chairperson’s Report  
 
The past year has been one of completing long-term priorities, and of positioning the 
Commission to best contribute to the opportunities and challenges of the Kimberley 
going forward. 
 
Amongst the very significant achievements outlined in the Executive Summary, the 
Commission has successfully completed it’s roles as Chair of the Warmun Re-
establishment Taskforce and as host of the Ord Enhancement Scheme.  Similarly, our 
long-term role in preparing the groundwork for the Ord Expansion Project, and more 
recently, in contributing to the implementation of the Project, are nearing an end with the 
appointment of a private developer. 
 
With the change to these responsibilities, the Commission is actively re-focussing 
towards important development opportunities in the West Kimberley, and will play a key 
role in delivering the West Kimberley Revitalisation package, which includes key 
projects for housing, transport, and regional centre development. 
 
At the same time, the Commission has an emerging role to support effective regional 
leadership, encourage clear-thinking, and to facilitate practical action in relation to 
overcoming challenges and achieving outcomes that will be of greatest importance to 
the long-term future for the Kimberley.   
 
An important way in which the Commission will be working to do this is through leading 
the development of the Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint.  The Blueprint will 
engage key organisations across the region, and build on existing planning and 
research, to deliver the first genuine whole-of-region plan. 
 
By filling this gap, the Blueprint will help regional leaders and decision-makers to make 
better sense of priorities for the region, and to align effort and investment around those 
issues of the greatest importance.  Importantly, the Blueprint will provide a framework 
for priorities and strategies to be tested against higher standards of evidence and rigour, 
and to challenge us all to find ways to overcome our most intractable challenges. 
 
The Blueprint will be an invaluable tool in the identification and prioritisation of 
transformational projects for funding, in the future, through the Royalties for Regions 
program and other public and private investment in the region. 
 
We are fortunate to have a terrific Board, who have contributed significantly both to 
realising short-term opportunities, but also to leading the strategic direction of the 
Commission to a new level.  Looking ahead, the Board will play an important role in 
supporting the Commission’s emerging role to develop common thinking and purpose 
amongst key regional stakeholders in relation to our shared opportunities, challenges, 
and priorities. 
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I express my great appreciation to the Commission’s Chief Executive and staff for the 
talent and passion they bring to the development of the Kimberley, and for their capacity 
to always meet the challenges with creativity, integrity and a focus on solutions.  
 
Finally, I acknowledge the ongoing vision, leadership and support for the Kimberley 
provided by the Hon Brendon Grylls, Minister for Regional Development.  
 
 

 
 

Cr Ralph Addis 
Chairperson 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
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The Kimberley Region 
 

Located in the far north of the state, the Kimberley region is characterised by abundant 
resources, high environmental values and investment opportunities. With a geographic 
area in excess of 420,000 square kilometres, equivalent to one sixth of Western 
Australia, the Kimberley boasts a wide range of flora and fauna set amongst unique 
physiography. The environment is both sub-tropical and arid with distinct wet and dry 
seasons. The monsoonal wet season brings tropical rains that can cause significant 
flooding, with the dry season providing warm days and mild evenings. The six major 
population centres are modern towns that can still expect to have communications cut 
seasonally for periods from a few hours to many days during the wet season. For many 
residents, located in more remote areas, seasonal isolation can extend to months. 
 
Rich in both natural and cultural assets, the Kimberley enjoys a broad-based, diverse 
economy, relative to other regions in Western Australia. The Kimberley Gross Regional 
Product in 2011/2012 was estimated at $3.1 billion. The resources sector dominates the 
value of regional production, however, it is a relatively small direct employer from the 
regional labour market. The other main regional industries are construction, retail trade, 
tourism, irrigated horticulture, pearling and the pastoral industry.  
 
The Kimberley Estimated Resident Population in 2012 was 38,850. The population is 
characterised by strong growth and high Aboriginal representation of around 44 per 
cent. There are approximately 160 Aboriginal communities with more than 30 traditional 
Aboriginal languages spoken across the region. Thirty-five per cent of the regional 
Aboriginal population is under 15 years old compared to twenty per cent for the State.  
 
There are four local governments: the Shire of Broome, Shire of Derby/West Kimberley, 
Shire of Halls Creek and the Shire of Wyndham East Kimberley and six towns: Broome, 
Derby, Fitzroy Crossing, Halls Creek, Kununurra and Wyndham. 
 
Extensive distances of between 100 and 300 kilometres between each of the six major 
population centres, coupled with large numbers of isolated, small, Aboriginal 
communities and the remoteness of local industries to major domestic markets, 
presents the Kimberley with unique challenges in providing appropriate infrastructure.  
 
The regional economy has significant potential for development and diversification and 
is based primarily on resource extraction, service delivery, construction, primary 
production and tourism. The resource industry, valued at $1.4 billion in 2011/12, 
provides strong opportunities for economic growth, including the potential to develop 
Aboriginal training benefits in remote locations whilst aiming to balance environmental 
and cultural considerations. Major regional projects such as the Ord East Kimberley 
Expansion Project provide further opportunities to leverage resources development to 
achieve regional community benefits. The construction industry supports strong 
economic growth and contributes towards a robust regional economy.  
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Public investment in social and economic infrastructure is a key component of regional 
public policy to attract, retain and build human capacity and also in providing a 
development enabler for private sector investment. 
 
The Kimberley is a region high in natural and cultural assets with a range of economic 
growth opportunities. The region is at a critical point in balancing its unique 
environmental values with an increasing identification of development opportunites of a 
global significance, that must leverage social and economic benefits to its people whilst 
continuing to create and environment conducive to regional investment. 
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Operational Structure 
 
This section details the Commission’s legislative base, responsible Minister, 
organisational structure and Board Member profiles.  
 
 

Enabling Legislation  
 

The Commission was established as a Statutory Authority under the Regional 
Development Commissions Act 1993 (as amended). 
 
 

Responsible Minister 
 

The Commission is responsible to the Hon Brendon Grylls, MLA, Minister for Regional 
Development; Lands; Minister Assisting the Minister for State Development. 
 
 

Reporting Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Parliament 

Minister for Regional Development; Lands; 
Minister Assisting the Minister for State 

Development 

Kimberley Development Commission 

Assistance of other 
Government Agencies 

Consultants as required 
with the Minister’s approval 

 

Kimberley Development Commission Board 
Chairperson & 

Nine Board Members  

KDC Advisory Committees 
(appointed as required) 

KDC Chief Executive 
and Staff 
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Board Profiles  

 

The Kimberley Development Commission’s Board comprises: 
 three members representing the regional community; 
 three members representing Local Government; 
 three members appointed at the Minister’s discretion; and 
 the Kimberley Development Commission’s Chief Executive. 

 
The Board is appointed by, and responsible to, the Minister for Regional Development. 
The Kimberley Development Commission is an accountable authority and advises the 
Minister on matters affecting the development of the region. It sets the strategic 
directions for the Commission. 
 
The Members of the Board at 30 June 2013 were: 
 
 

Cr Ralph Addis, Chairperson  
Community representative – appointed 2009 – term expires 2015 
  
Cr Addis is a Councillor of the Shire of Wyndham East 
Kimberley and a member of the Ord/East Kimberley Expansion 
Project Community Reference Group. He has lived with his 
family in the Kimberley since 1996, and has been involved in 
Aboriginal economic development strategies and commercial 
projects in tourism, agriculture, and construction across the 
Kimberley, working in both the government and non-
government sectors. Cr Addis is a Chartered Accountant, holds a Masters of Economic 
Studies, and is a Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Cr 
Addis held the positions of Chief Executive, Warmun Aboriginal Community and Deputy 
Chairperson of the Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-establishment Taskforce, during 
re-establishment of the Community post March 2011 flood event.  
 
 
Cr Sciona Browne, Deputy Chairperson  
Local Government representative – appointed 2012 - term expires 2015 
 
Cr Browne is a commercial pilot and has had a long standing career 
in the aviation industry in WA, the USA and Asia, working in senior 
management positions in research and development and risk 
assessment and mitigation. She has expertise in private industry - 
commercialising new technologies, evaluating start-up businesses, 
project management and capital-raising. Sciona has been based in 
Halls Creek since 2007, working in community development, as 
Executive Director of the Better Life Project, and subsequently 
Director, Housing Outreach Program. In 2009 Sciona was elected to 
the Shire of Halls Creek Council and served as Shire President in 
2011 to 2013.  
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Sciona has a strong interest in supporting education and wellbeing initiatives for 
children and youth; developing appropriate and sustainable economic development in 
the region; and ensuring local people and communities are at the forefront of decision-
making. She has recently taken up a position with Save the Children Australia, as their 
Regional Manager, East Kimberley. 
 
 
Cr Elsia Archer, Member  
Local Government representative – appointed 2008 - term expires 2014 
 
Cr Archer has lived and worked in Derby since 1957 and managed 
a Derby based store for twenty four years prior to her recent 
retirement from business.   
 
Cr Archer is a Justice of the Peace and has served on the Shire of 
Derby West Kimberley Council for twenty years, including two years 
as Deputy President and in her eleventh year in her current office as 
President. Cr Archer has been a local government representative on 
the Regional Development Council of WA and has previously 
served three years as President of the WA Local Government 
Association’s Kimberley Zone and is a current member. Cr Archer is 
a member of other regional groups including Home and Community Care, Health 
Consumers, Roadwise (formerly Safer WA) and the Small Business Centre Derby. She 
is also Council’s representative on the Native Title Working Group and a Board 
Member, Regional Development Australia (Kimberley). 
 
Cr Archer is tireless in her pursuit of improvement within the community and particularly 
all aspects of the health service.  She also champions the promotion of cultural events 
in this remote area. 
 
 
Cr Graeme Campbell, Member  
Local Government representative - appointed 2012 - term expires 2014 
  
Cr Campbell was elected to the Shire of Broome Council in 2003 
and has held the office of President since 2005. He has also held a 
range of appointments including; Chairperson, Kimberley Zone for 
four years, former Chair of the Kimberley Area Consultative 
Committee (the forerunner to Regional Development Australia), 
Deputy Member WA State Grants Commission, Member, Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, Chair of Regional Road Group for 
the Kimberley and a Member of the Kimberley Regional Planning 
Committee. 
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Through these roles he has gained broad experience in Local Government, business, 
tourism and Aboriginal Affairs. 
 
Cr Campbell’s preference is for economic development that facilitates the social and 
cultural aspects of the region.  
 
Cr Campbell considers the key issues for the Kimberley to include housing, the 
affordability and delivery of municipal and normalised services, the cost of doing 
business and the need for government servicing to be commensurate with metropolitan 
areas. He is keen to see long term opportunities for Kimberley people. 
 
 
Cr Eunice Yu, Member 
Community representative – appointed 2012 - term expires 2015 

 
Ms Yu is a Yawuru person currently employed by the Kimberley 
Institute, in Broome.  
 

Ms Yu’s preferences for development in the Kimberley are for all 
residents to benefit economically, socially and culturally with 
development decisions being made at a local / regional level and 
based on inclusive engagement of relevant stakeholders and at a 
cross-sectoral level. Places that are valued by the Community should 
be protected and the region promoted and celebrated. 
 
She considers her potential Contribution to the Board includes 
personal attributes of level headedness, integrity, loyalty, honesty and accountability, an 
Indigenous woman’s perspective and views, networks and linkages with engagement 
opportunities and stakeholders. Ms Yu’s community profile is gained through 
employment, volunteering and representation. 
 
Ms Yu sees the State’s changing demography, Native Title determinations, 
displacement of community members and associated impact on communities, 
subsequent service delivery pressures and the need for balanced economic social and 
cultural imperatives with appropriate access to resources, as key issues. 
 
 
Mr Robert Banfield, Member 
Ministerial representative – appointed 2012 - term expires 2015 
 

Robert Banfield is Managing Director of Willie Creek Pearls and has 
owned the business with his family since 1989. He has lived in 
Broome for over 20 years, and been a significant part of the 
business community.  
 
Robert’s focus is on providing strategic leadership and vision for the 
diverse portfolio that has expanded to include six Willie Creek Pearls 
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showrooms in Broome and Perth, the multi award winning Willie Creek Pearl Farm, 
Broome Sightseeing Tour, Pearl Luggers Tour and Banfield Property Developments.   
 
During his career, he has led the organizational growth of the company in the Tourism, 
Retail and Property Industries, including overseeing the company’s national and 
international presence.  
  
Robert has been an active participant on committees in Broome industry and is 
currently sits a Board Member, Australia’s North West Tourism. 
 
Considering diversification and strategic investment as essential elements to successful 
business outcomes, Robert’s vision is for a strong economic base across all industries 
in the Kimberley that provides the essential support and social services required to 
maintain a regional balance. 
 
 
Mr Robert Boshammer, Member 
Ministerial representative - appointed 2012 - term expires 2015 
 

Mr Boshammer is a graduate of Queensland Agricultural 
College and has been a prominent and leading Ord River 
Irrigation Area grower for over 20 years. He has a development 
and equity position in a number of associated businesses 
including nurseries, forestry management services, tourism, 
produce marketing and irrigation and pastoral business 
development and describes his passion as the empowerment of 
people in regional areas to facilitate world-class business 
development. 
 
Mr Boshammer’s preferences for development in the Kimberley focus on increasing 
local decision making and decision making by Indigenous people with ‘less control and 
rubber stamping’ from above and streamlined bureaucratic processes that allow small 
business and communities to develop and ‘have a go’. He would also like to see 
increased availability of affordable living blocks in support of people that wish to move 
ahead.  
 
He considers his potential contribution to the Board includes expertise in small 
business, management and development and an ability to identify and articulate major 
hurdles holding back business development. Rob believes that small business is most 
attuned to people and worker’s needs, in particular Indigenous people. 
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Mr Niegel Grazia, Member 
Ministerial – appointed 2012 - term expires 2014 
 
Mr Grazia currently holds the position of Vice President – 
Kimberley, Woodside Browse LNG Development. He has tertiary 
qualifications in Business and his experience includes fifteen years 
in the WA Public Services and seventeen years in the Oil and Gas 
industry across the energy, resources and emergency services 
portfolios.  He held the position of Assistant Director, the Pilbara 
Development Commission in 1994 -1995 and subsequently joined 
the Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration Association 
and later Woodside. He has significant experience in working with 
communities to solve complex problems, and in governance. 
  
Mr Grazia would like to see the Kimberley developing through economic diversification 
to increase opportunities for its residents, without compromising its natural values and 
cultural diversity.  
 
 
Mr Ian Trust, Member 
Community representative – appointed 2012 - term expires 2014 
 
Mr Trust has a background in Aboriginal affairs and 
management in the East Kimberley. His former positions 
include Administrator, East Kimberley Aboriginal Medical 
Services (now Ord Valley Aboriginal Health Services), 
Chairperson Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Commission, Wunan Regional Council and later WA - 
Commissioner Kimberley Region. 
 
He is currently Deputy Chair of Indigenous Business Australia and Indigenous Land 
Corporation, Interim Chair Aarnja Ltd, Executive Director of Wunan and Chair Jawun 
Kimberley Advisory Group. 
 
Mr Trust believes the basis of any region is a strong economy with access to regional 
opportunities. To enable people to access the opportunities affordable housing and 
good quality education is required. He believes a measure of success of government 
policy and funding in the Kimberley is the social and economic enhancement of the 
Aboriginal people in the region. 
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Mr Jeff Gooding, Member - Ex Officio  
Chief Executive 

Mr Gooding has held the position of Chief Executive of the Kimberley Development 
Commission since the Commission’s establishment and is a Member of the Board of the 
Commission. He is a long term resident of Kununurra and the Kimberley, has 
qualifications in town and regional planning, is a graduate and fellow of the Australian 
Rural Leadership Foundation, Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors 
and is Justice of the Peace, and former Shire Councillor. 

Having participated in the negotiation process which culminated in the Ord Final Native 
Title Agreement, Mr Gooding continues to be substantially involved in its 
implementation as a Member of the Ord Enhancement Scheme Management 
Committee and a Director of the Miriuwung Gajerrong Community Foundation. He has 

been closely involved in the development, and initial 
implementation, of the Ord/East Kimberley Expansion Project, most 
recently as a Member of the Ord Land Release Panel and the 
Community Reference Group. 

Other regional roles include membership of the Kimberley Regional 
Planning Committee and the WA Coastal Shipping Monitoring 
group. In March 2011 Mr Gooding was appointed as the Chairman 
of the Warmun Community Re-establishment Taskforce 
established by Cabinet to coordinate the response to destructive 
flooding of that Community.  

 

Advisory Committees 
 

The Board is empowered to appoint advisory committees to assist in providing specialist 
advice to the Board. Such committees are formed on a needs basis and currently 
include the Risk Management and Audit Sub-Committee which is an active sub-
committee and the Kimberley Aviation Tourism Development Committee.  

 
 
Senior Officers 
 

Mr Jeff Gooding, Chief Executive 
 

Mr Gooding has a background in planning and extensive regional development and 
leadership experience gained through the WA Public Sector, involvement with regional 
industry and community.  
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Mr Kelvin Barr, Deputy Director 
 

Mr Barr has lived and worked in the Kimberley for over twenty years and has a 
background in regional business development and considerable relevant experience in 
Public Sector programs and management gained at a State, Commonwealth and 
Community level.   
 
 

Organisational Chart – Staff 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Chief Executive  

OES Program Manager 
Manager 

Clerical 
Receptionist 

Customer & Clerical 
Services Officer 

Executive Officer 
 Officer 

OES Community 
Information Coordinator 

Deputy Director 
 

Director 

Administrative 
Officer 

Manager 
Corporate Services 

Senior Development 
Officer 

Senior Projects Officer  
 Officer 

Research Officer 
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Legislation impacting on the Commission’s Activities 
 

In performing its functions, the Kimberley Development Commission complies with 
every written law including the: 

 Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 

 Financial Management Act 2006  

 Auditor General Act 2003 

 Royalties for Regions Act 2009 

 Contaminated Sites Act 2003 

 Disability Services Act 1993 

 Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

 Freedom of Information Act 1992 

 Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 

 Government Employees Housing Act 1964 

 Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987 

 Industrial Relations Act 1979 

 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 

 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 

 Public Sector Management Act 1994 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 

 State Records Act 2000 

 State Supply Commission Act 1991 

 Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 
 
The Commission also exercises controls which provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of monies, the acquisition and disposal of public 
property and incurring of liabilities are in accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the 
particulars included in this statement misleading or inaccurate. 
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Performance Management Framework 
 
The Kimberley Development Commission is a Western Australian Statutory Authority, 
State Government Agency established in accordance with the Regional Development 
Commissions Act 1993 to work on behalf of the Kimberley regional community. 
 

 

Statutory Objectives and Functions 
 

In accordance with Section 23 (1) of the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993, 
the objectives of the Commission are to: 

 maximise job creation and improve career opportunities in the region; 

 develop and broaden the economic base of the region; 

 identify infrastructure services to promote economic and social development 
within the region; 

 provide information and advice to promote business development within the 
region; 

 seek to ensure that the general standard of government services and access to 
those services in the region is comparable to that which applies in the 
metropolitan area; and 

 generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate and monitor the economic 
development in the region. 

 
The Commission is committed to a ‘whole of government’ approach to fulfilling its 
Statutory Objectives and Functions and simultaneously contributes towards the 
Governments Goals: 
 

 State Building – Major Projects - Building strategic infrastructure that will 
create jobs and underpin Western Australia’s long-term economic development. 

 

 Financial and Economic Responsibility - Responsibly managing the State’s 
finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging 
economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector. 

 

 Results-based Service Delivery - Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians. 

 

 Stronger Focus on the Regions - Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and economic development to improve the overall 
quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

 

 Social and Environmental Responsibility - Ensuring that economic activity is 
managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long-term 
benefit of the State. 
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Outcome Based Management Framework 
 

The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework comprises an annual 
Resource Agreement between the Minister, the Commission and the Treasurer. This 
provides the basis for the Commission’s work, budget appropriation and reporting to 
government by establishing a desired outcome consistent with the Commission’s 
legislative responsibilities and the Governments Goals for: An environment conducive to 
the balanced economic and social development of the Kimberley region; agreed targets 
for efficiency and effectiveness; and two high level services/result areas:   
 
Service 1: The Commission will provide effective regional development policies and 
strategies together with accurate and accessible information on the region to facilitate 
and support the economic and social development of the region. 
 
Service 2: The Commission will identify, co-ordinate and promote through its major 
strategies the establishment, improvement and diversification of the region’s 
infrastructure, industries and enterprises. 

 
Strategic Planning  
 
To meet its legislative obligations, optimise its contribution toward the Government 
Goals, and achieve high level and lasting outcomes for the Kimberley, the Commission 
regularly engages in a strategic planning process. This adds detail to its performance 
management framework and guides its work with regional stakeholders. The Strategic 
Plan describes the Board’s:  

 Vision for the region;  

 Corporate Intent; and  
 Major Strategies identified to address regional growth, diversity and regional 

investment and contribute to Service 1 and 2 implementation.  
 

Corporate Intent 
 

 
 

 

Our vision is for a prosperous 

Kimberley region, 

characterised by proactive 

cooperation and respect 

among its people who all 

enjoy the benefits of 

economic, social and cultural 

development, a unique 

environment and healthy 

lifestyle. 

 

 

Corporate Management and Leadership Development 

 

Regional Information, Promotion and Advocacy 

 

Regional and Strategic Planning 

Development Processes, Partnerships and Government 
Policies 

Infrastructure & Services: Identification, Development and 
Monitoring 

 

Business and Industry Development and Diversification 

Facilitate Access to Funding and Regional Initiatives 

 

Strategic Project Development, Support and Coordination 
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Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework 
 
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework has not changed in 
2012/2013. 
 
 

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies 
 
In accordance with the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 Part 2 Division 2 
section 23 clause (1) (e) the Commission has responsibilities:  “to ensure that the 
general standard of government services and access to those services in the region is 
comparable to that which applies in the metropolitan area”.  
 
Examples of the Commission’s shared responsibilities with Agencies, in 2012/2013 to 
each Agency’s benefit, include: 

 partnering with the Department of Housing to progress the Halls Creek 
component of the Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing Project and the 
development of a Kimberley Housing Strategy; 

 providing leadership and collaborating with Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-
establishment Taskforce Agencies to progress final components of the 
Community rebuild; and 

 working with the Department of Regional Development and Lands to facilitate the 
development of the Regional Development Commission’s cluster models for 
corporate services delivery and grants administration into which the Commission 
has now rolled.   
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Agency Performance 
 
This section summarises the Commission’s performance, major achievements and 
highlights in 2012/2013 against its Resource Agreement, Budget Statements, the eight 
strategic areas identified in its Corporate Intent and the five Government Goals.  
 
 

Report on Operations  
 
Consistent with the changing regional development environment, the Commission has 
this year, undertaken a thorough reassessment of its priority areas to provide a strong 
foundation for its high profile and changing role in the Kimberley. 
 
This reprioritisation has comprised a number of detailed processes; a Review of the 
Commission’s Functionality, the development of a six month Business Plan and Three 
year Operational Business Plan 2013-2016, ongoing strategic planning processes and 
the completion of Phase 1 of the Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint in 
consultation with regional stakeholders. This intense work has complemented 
government’s goals and changes in government policy. 
 
Parallel to these processes, the Commission has also: 

 progressed development of a pipeline of West Kimberley projects including the 
Broome Recreational Boating Facility; 

 supported regional organisations in continuing Royalties for Regions funded 
projects, including the Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing Project;  

 attended to final details in the Warmun Aboriginal Community post March 2011 
flood rebuild; 

 facilitated the transition of the Ord Enhancement Scheme from the Commission 
to MG Corp; 

 participated in collaborative work with the Northern Territory (NT) Government 
and its Memorandum with Western Australia (WA), to progress expansion of the 
Ord agricultural area across the NT/WA border; 

 transitioned from the Department of Treasury’s Office of Shared Services to the 
new Department of Regional Development lead Regional Development 
Commissions’ Corporate Services cluster and Royalties for Regions grant 
administration models. 

 
Table A (page 25) provides the Commission’s project areas matched against the two 
Service Areas identified in its Resource Agreement 2012/2013 and the five Government 
Goals. Asterisks are used to denote project area contributions towards each 
Government Goal. 
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Achievement Area Service Areas 1 & 2 Government Goals 
 
 

Regional 
Development 
Policies, 
Strategies & 
Information 

Diversification 
of Industries & 
Infrastructure 

State Building 
– Major 
Projects 

Financial & 
Economic 
Responsibility 

Results Based 
Service 
Delivery 

Stronger Focus 
on the Regions 

Social & 
Environmental 
Responsibility 

Royalties for Regions 
Program * * * * * * * 
Warmun Aboriginal 
Community Re-
establishment Project 

* * * * * * * 
Strategic Project 
Development * * * * * * * 
Corporate Management 
& Leadership 
Development 

* * * * * * * 
Regional Information 
Promotion & Advocacy * * * * * * * 
Business & Industry 
Development & 
Diversification 

* * * * * * * 
Development 
Processes, Partnerships 
& Government Policies 

* * * * * * * 
Infrastructure & 
Services: Identification, 
Development & 
Monitoring 

* * * * * * * 
Facilitating Access to 
Funding for Regional 
Initiatives 

* * * * * * * 
Ord Enhancement 
Scheme 
 

* * * * * * * 
Regional Workforce 
Development Plan * * * * * * * 
 

Table A - The Commission’s Achievements in 2012/2013 matched against its Service Areas & Government Goals 
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Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint 
 
The Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint has been designed to provide a 
framework to help facilitate an integrated and comprehensive approach to regional 
development in the Kimberley. It considers and documents strategic planning and 
investment and aspirations of Government, non-government and commercial 
sectors. From the outset, the Regional Development Council has strongly endorsed 
the development of Regional Investment Blueprints and has set direction and 
timelines. 
 
Regional Investment Blueprints are being prepared by each of the nine Regional 
Development Commissions to provide a mechanism to facilitate and monitor 
economic and social development, provide a platform to focus investment activity in 
the region, through the Royalties for Regions Program and potentially other funding 
programs. 
 
In 2012/2013 the Commission completed the Kimberley Regional Investment 
Blueprint Stage One Report that documents the status of regional development 
planning and activity in the region and identifies gaps and areas of future work. The 
report indicates that whilst substantial work has been undertaken to date there 
remains significant work to be undertaken to address the complex issues that the 
region faces.  
 
In 2013/2014 the Commission will undertake the Kimberley Regional Investment 
Blueprint Stage Two that will involve comprehensively engaging with major 
stakeholders across the region to discuss and agree upon key structural and 
strategic issues and direction.  
 
The development of the Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint is a major activity 
for the Commission requiring visionary and aspirational thinking and a robust 
process to deliver a document that will enable and leverage regional development 
outcomes. The Commission is committed and well placed to provide leadership in 
developing a cohesive regional approach to provide an inclusive future for the 
Kimberley community. 
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Royalties for Regions Program 
 
The Royalties for Regions program was launched in December 2008 and underpins 
the State Government’s long-term focus on regional development throughout 
Western Australia through investment in projects, infrastructure and community 
services. 
 
Through the Royalties for Regions Act 2009, the equivalent of 25 percent of the 
State’s mining and onshore petroleum royalties are credited to the Royalties for 
Regions Fund. To date the Program has provided funding to promote regional 
development through a variety of schemes and regionally significant projects. 
 
The Commission actively supports and promotes the Royalties for Regions Program 
in the Kimberley. This has included the management of the Royalties for Regions 
Kimberley Regional Grants Scheme in addition to a range of supporting roles in 
promoting and implementing other Royalties for Regions programs across the 
Kimberley. 
 
 
Kimberley Regional Grants Scheme 
 
The Kimberley Regional Grants Scheme (KRGS) was initiated in 2008 to provide the 
Commission with the capacity to guide regional development through direct financial 
contributions to a range of projects with positive regional benefits. The final Scheme 
competitive funding round was completed in 2011. However, a range of projects 
have continued to require project development assistance and grant processes to 
ensure that the Scheme achieves its 
objectives and its obligations.   
 
A total of 93 Kimberley Regional Grant 
Scheme projects were funded with a total 
direct contribution of $9.8 million as leverage 
towards projects valued at over $47 million. 
The Scheme has contributed towards 
implementing projects that are consistent 
with the Board of the Commission’s strategic 
direction.  
 
 
Country Local Government Fund 
 
In 2012/2013 the Commission continued to partner the region’s four Local 
Governments to implement the Royalties for Regions Country Local Government 
Fund. The Fund provides direct financial contributions to the four Kimberley Local 
Governments whilst also providing funding to develop regional projects that are 
strategically significant.  
 
The Commission facilitated the identification and development of business cases 
aimed at enhancing attraction and retention of key local government staff through the 
Key Worker Housing project. Implementation of the project will enable improved 
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operational capacity of each of the region’s Local Governments that will, in turn, 
underpin improved regional service provision. 
 
 
Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing Project  
 
In 2010, Cabinet allocated $15 million from the 2009/2010 Royalties for Regions 
budget, to the Commission to develop and pilot a new Aboriginal housing delivery 
model that would also address Aboriginal worker housing shortages in Kununurra, 
Halls Creek and Fitzroy Crossing. At the outset, the project partners; Bunuba Inc in 
Fitzroy Crossing, the Shire of Halls Creek, and Miriuwung Gajerrong (MG) 
Corporation in Kununurra provided land for the Community housing initiative. 
 
Both MG Corp and the Shire of Halls Creek were successful in the subsequent year 
in attracting further Royalties for Regions funding of $2,280,000 and $2,250,000 
through the Regional Development Council’s Action Agenda funding scheme to 
extend the housing project in both towns.  
 

Memorandums of Understanding between the 
Commission and the Department of Regional 
Development (DRD) cover the three 
components of the original project, the 
Kununurra and Halls Creek extensions. Grant 
Agreements between the Commission and 
project partners ensure the project is delivered 
in accordance with the model. 
 

Arrangements are being finalised for the 
Department of Housing (DoH) to replace the 

Shire of Halls Creek for the Halls Creek component. DoH will work closely with the 
Aboriginal Community Housing project group in that town to progress the original 
and extension projects. 
 

This project and its extensions will yield up to thirty-five houses for Aboriginal people 
in employment that no longer qualify for State social housing as their incomes 
exceed the social housing thresholds and they cannot afford the high rental rates of 
the mainstream private rental market.  
 
Ten houses on Miriuwung Gajerrong Community 
Living Areas have been completed and are 
occupied. Four more three bedroom houses will 
shortly be constructed in partnership with MG 
Corp in the Kununurra town site. 
 
In Halls Creek, the project has incurred delays 
due to the transition from the Shire of Halls 
Creek to the Department of Housing. Both the 
initial and extension project components will be 
progressed concurrently with a view to 
completing housing construction in mid 2014. 
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Bunuba Inc. in Fitzroy Crossing has chosen to build four town houses and two single 
storey houses in a central location. Practical completion is imminent and tenants will 
shortly be selected by a third party property manager under the guidance of the 
Bunuba Housing Committee. Bunuba Inc. will use remaining funds and interest to 
construct one or two more houses on a second site. 

 
 
Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-establishment 
 
Two years since the flood devastation of March 2011, the residents of Warmun 
Aboriginal Community have settled into their rebuilt and refurbished houses and are 
benefitting from the extensive rebuilt and refurbished community infrastructure.  
 
The State Government’s Warmun Re-establishment Taskforce, chaired by the Chief 
Executive of the Kimberley Development Commission has effectively completed its 
work. Rapidly established to coordinate the interagency response to the planning 
and rebuild of the Warmun Community, the Taskforce comprised representatives 
from the Warmun Community, Fire and Emergency Services, the Departments of 
Housing, Aboriginal Affairs, Child Protection and Building Management and Works, 
the Shires of Wyndham East Kimberley and Halls Creek and the Commonwealth 
Government. 

 
By securing Commonwealth and State 
Government funding, planning the rebuild 
and working with the Warmun 
Community and the three tiers of 
Government, the Taskforce achieved, in 
a short time, the rebuild of the 
Community of which ninety percent was 
devastated. All community residents and 
staff that were displaced by the floods 
are now in more than 80 new or 

refurbished homes. Two final significant elements of the community infrastructure, 
the new Remote Community Clinic and Aged Care facility (which is under 
construction) and the Catholic School (whose upgrades are the subject of 
negotiations with the Department of Education), are all that remain of the physical 
infrastructure replacement works. 
 

The internationally significant Community Art collection has been restored, preserved 
and returned to the community in what is understood to have been the largest 
undertaking of its type in Australian history.   
 
The Community’s protection against future flooding has been substantially improved 
by the new Community Layout Plan (CLP) which is considerate of 100 year flood 
levels and underpins the rebuild of houses and infrastructure on higher land and 
supports optimal flood water drainage.  
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Indigenous employment conditions in 
construction contracts together with a 
Commonwealth commitment of $7.5 
million to an eighteen month enhanced 
Community Development and 
Employment program have achieved 
training and employment outcomes with 
the majority of the Community’s 
labourforce of 100, benefitting from one or 
both. 
 
Continuous service delivery has been 
maintained throughout the initial evacuation of 300 residents to Kununurra, their 
transition to Warmun and re-settlement in their Community. Many services have 
been re-designed as part of the Warmun New Start initiative, to reflect a Community 
aspiration and commitment to greater self determination and social and economic 
responsibility.  
 
The aftermath of the flood has required Warmun residents to overcome the trauma 
of the event and the loss of their homes and adjust to a new future with the potential 
of enhanced socio-economic outcomes. This process of change continues to be 
supported by core government Agencies as the Taskforce completes its rebuild role. 

 
 
Other Achievements 
 
Strategic Project Development, Support and Coordination  
 

Strategic project development in the Kimberley is critical to provide the employment 
for its young and growing culturally diverse population. The Commission works in 
partnership with a wide range of stakeholders to facilitate project development and 
funding for those projects. This work is informed by a comprehensive understanding 
of the region, engagement with regional community, industry and government 
stakeholders and participation in ongoing internal and external strategic planning 
processes.  
 
Highlights in 2012/2013 have included: 

 finalising the first stage of the Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint that 
summarises the current status of projects underway and planned (budgeted 
and unbudgeted) across the region; 

 a refocus on the development of the West Kimberley by commencing the 
development of a pipeline of significant projects and partnering the 
Department of Transport, the lead agency, in progressing the Broome Boating 
Facility, a complex multidisciplinary process; facilitating project development 
that will attract investment, provide employment and support the development 
of Broome as a major centre; 

 finalising the role of the Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-establishment 
Taskforce in the ninety percent rebuild of the Community;  
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 providing input into the final stages of the Ord/East Kimberley Expansion 
Project and working with Government to identify and progress further 
agricultural land expansion in Western Australia and into the Northern 
Territory; and 

 finalising arrangements to transition the continuing elements of the Ord 
Enhancement Scheme established through the Ord Final Agreement to MG 
Corp. 

 
 
Regional and Strategic Planning 
 

To focus regional development and advocate to Government, the Commission 
places emphasis on well informed regional and strategic planning. It does this by 
inviting stakeholders to present at Board meetings, researching, accessing and 
analysing accurate and current data and modifying its own strategic direction. This 
enables the Commission to provide sound input into cross-government strategic 
planning processes. 
 
The Commission also assists other organisations in their infrastructure and service 
planning and project development by assisting with research and acquisition of 
regional data and localised analysis. This service assists the community, industry 
and government sectors and assists in 
leveraging funding, attracting regional 
investment and informing government 
service delivery at a regional and state level.  
 
The Kimberley Regional Investment 
Blueprint, referred to previously, has been 
designed to complement State and regional 
planning processes, by identifying areas for 
infrastructure and service project 
development and the funding status of those 
projects.  
 
Input into other key planning processes in 2012/2013 has included: 

 the Broome Boating Facility planning and governance processes in 
partnership with the lead agency, the Department of Transport, to reach a 
point where this important project can be implemented. 

 the Kimberley Workforce Development Plan that was drafted in 2012/2013 for 
release in 2013/2014. The Commission has chaired an alliance of local 
industry, business, community and government stakeholders that has 
developed the Plan that has the potential to assist in overcoming the 
complexities of workforce skills development, workforce capacity and strategy 
development. 

 final strategic planning in the Warmun Aboriginal community rebuild through 
the Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-establishment Taskforce.  
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Corporate Management and Leadership Development 

 
Corporate management and governance in the Kimberley is challenged by high 
regional staff turnover and difficulties accessing appropriate and ongoing 
professional development in these areas for a range of reasons that include high 
delivery cost, technical challenges and staff availability. 
 
Therefore, as an integral part of its regional development work, the Commission 
supports regional stakeholders in enhancing their corporate management, 
governance and leadership capacity. 
 
It does this by maintaining currency in government policy, governance and 
leadership and also facilitating partnerships between government, community and 
industry organisations.  
 
The Commission’s role in the development of the Broome Boating Facility project is 
largely one of strategic project planning. Similarly, in the Kimberley Aboriginal 
Community Housing project, the Commission is working to support host community 
organisations adopt a high level of governance, leadership and corporate 
management. 
 
Building regional capacity at this level is essential to achieve the regions potential. 
 
 
Regional Information Promotion and Advocacy 
 

The Commission aims to promote the economic and lifestyle benefits of investing 
and living in the Kimberley. During 2012/2013 the Commission actively facilitated 
regional information sharing across industry sectors to improve decision making for 
government agencies, Ministers, Investors and the Community sector. 
 
Detailed assessments of proposed initiatives in the regional context contribute to 
enhanced regional decision making and enhanced investment outcomes. Regional 
information is provided to a range of current and potential regional investors with a 
focus on diversifying and strengthening regional business and industry, securing 
socio-economic benefits for the entire regional population and attracting regional 
investment in infrastructure and services. 
 
 

Business and Industry Development and Diversification 
 
Contributing to the economic development of the Kimberley is a high priority of the 
Commission and represents a key pillar of regional development in Western 
Australia’s most northern region.  
 
Economic diversification offers opportunities to develop stronger communities in an 
operating environment that is conducive to further industry investment that provides 
a base for employment. 
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The Commission has provided funding and support for the Kimberley Small Business 
Awards, Australia’s North West Tourism Awards and Regional Economic Forums to 
reinforce their importance in stimulating business diversification. 
 
The Kimberley Business Capability and Services Register www.kimberleybiz.com.au, 
administered by the Commission, was established to link local businesses with major 
projects. This model assists promote regional goods and services across the 
Kimberley and assists maximise regional benefits. It is well supported by the 
Resources sector. 
 
The resources sector provides opportunities to engage in innovative employment 
initiatives that can provide benefits for the region’s unique geography and 
demography. The Commission works with industry stakeholders to promote local 
employment strategies to develop a skilled workforce to meet industry needs and 
regional development outcomes.  
 

The significant expansion of the Ord River 
Irrigation Area offers industry development 
and diversification for both the Kimberley and 
the State. The Commission continues to 
promote and partner in the progression of the 
agriculture industry in the East Kimberley and 
to monitor and provide input to future 
developments in the West Kimberley with the 
potential to diversify the economic base in that 
area. 

 
The Commission works with local organisations, industry and government to 
facilitate innovative Aboriginal housing development, management and transitional 
housing programs that act as an employment and retention incentive. The initiative 
contributes towards the construction industry which is one of the region’s most 
significant employers. 
 
 
Development Processes, Partnerships and Government Policies 
 
For the Kimberley to reach its potential, regional development work must be 
informed by the region’s demographics; that is the young median age and the almost 
equal percentages of Aboriginal and non Aboriginal people in the region’s 
population. 
 
These demographics inform every aspect of the Commission’s work; its advocacy to 
government; input to stakeholder partnerships and project identification and 
development.  
 
In 2012/2013, this has included: 

 leading edge work in the area of Aboriginal housing in partnership with 
Community organisations and the Department of Housing in the development 
of new models that incentivise employment by providing alternative rental and 
home ownership options for Aboriginal people in employment; 

http://www.kimberleybiz.com.au/
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 working with Community organisations to overcome impediments to 
infrastructure and housing projects, for example the Shire of Halls Creek to 
progress planning for a new Art Centre and Waringarri Arts to secure staff 
housing;  

 providing input into Governments work with the Northern Territory 
Government to expand irrigated agricultural land into the Northern Territory; 
and 

 working closely with the Commonwealth Regional Development Australia – 
Kimberley to leverage funding to the region. 

 
 
Infrastructure and Services: Identification, Development and Monitoring 
 

To achieve appropriate levels and combinations of infrastructure and services 
requires sound regional and strategic planning. The Commission is proactive in this 
area by providing significant regional expertise and local experience in progressing 
and implementing initiatives that include the Kimberley Regional Investment 
Blueprint. 
 
In addition, the Commission works with regional stakeholders to undertake a range 
of regional planning initiatives to ensure that infrastructure and services needs are 
identified and appropriately planned for the future to maximise the benefits of 
regional investment and to attract new investment to the region. 
 
Partners in this area include the three tiers of Government, Industry and Community 
organisations.   
 
 

Facilitating Access to Funding for Regional Initiatives 
 
The Kimberley Regional Grants Scheme is facilitated by the Commission. Although 
the Scheme provided no new grants during 2012/2013, the Commission’s staff 
continued to work with project proponents that were awarded grants in previous 
years and reached differing stages of project development throughout the year. A 
total of 93 projects have been funded through the Scheme providing a broad range 
of regional benefits and substantial leveraged funding to the Kimberley. 
 
Through wide networks in all sectors, the Commission aims to match regional 
projects with potential sources of funding including through Royalties for Regions 
programs. 
 
 
 

The Ord Enhancement Scheme 
 
The Ord Enhancement Scheme (OES) was designed and established under the Ord 
Final Agreement (OFA) between the Miriuwung Gajerrong (MG) Traditional Owners 
and State Government, as a new and finite government program to improve social 
service delivery to Miriuwung Gajerrong people. With a Management Committee of 
eight, that comprised MG representatives and the Commission’s Chief Executive the 
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program was administered by the Commission. OES was envisaged to run for four 
years using $11.2 million funding to leverage additional funds to achieve its 
objectives. 
 
To date OES has worked in partnership with government and non-government 
agencies to design and implement a comprehensive range of social service delivery 
projects that have included: guiding and influencing MG outcomes in pre-
kindergarten to Year 12 education; primary health care and housing. Programs that 
strengthen relationships between MG Elders and young people and build confidence 
and respect, have also met with great success.     
 
To allow MG people to realise the full benefit of the program and maximise funding, 
the OES was extended into its seventh year and a transition from the Commission to 
MG Corp was agreed in late 2012/2013.  
 
The transitional arrangements agreed by the Commission and MG Corp and 
approved by the Minister for Regional Development, ensured that the remaining 
$2.213 million committed for the OES and held by the Commission, would be 
transferred to MG Corp for the purpose for which it was intended; to use for 
initiatives that would continue to improve the social outcomes of MG people. The 
funds would be secured within the robust MG structure within which the State retains 
a guiding role.  
 
The transition of OES from the Commission to MG Corp importantly recognised that 
MG people aspire to continue to take a leadership role to address the social issues 
facing their community and to generate their own funds to support that effort. It will 
also allow MG people to build their capacity and achieve their long held aspiration to 
be able to develop a program of social initiatives that they lead and that would 
continue beyond the life of the Government administered OES. 
 
The remaining funds of $2.213m (ex GST) have been split into two categories: 
Allocated funds which are currently granted to a range of organisations that are 
progressing OES partnership 
programs and Unallocated funds that 
will progressively be approved for 
initiatives by the MG Corp Community 
Foundation Trust that includes the 
Commission’s Chief Executive. The 
funds have been transferred as a 
single grant, which will expire on 30 

June 2015, by the Kimberley 
Development Commission to MG 
Corporation and the MG Community 
Foundation Trust. 
 
Major Ongoing OES Supported Programs that continue after the transition include a 
range of health, educational and cultural maintenance programs in addition to 
specially designed programs designed to support young people in life skills and 
organisations in governance and management capacity. 
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Actual Results against Budget Targets 
 
Financial Targets 
 

 2012/13 
Target $000 

2012/13 
Actual $000 

Variation 

Total Cost of Services (expense limit) 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income) 
 

4,339 9,292 4,953 

Net Cost of Services  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income) 
 

4,192 7,607 3,415 

Total Equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position) 
 

2,720 1,800 920 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 
 

(815) (2,731) (1,916) 

Approved full time equivalent (FTE) staff level 
 

14 14 - 

 

The variation between target and actual Total Cost of Services is primarily attributed 
to carryover of grants from the 2011-12 financial year. At the time the 2012-13 
Budget was set, it was anticipated that the majority of grant funds held for the Ord 
Enhancement Scheme and the Royalties for Regions Regional Grants Scheme 
would be expensed by 30 June 2012. However, this was not the case resulting in the 
Budget estimated grant expense being increased from $1,729k to $7,605k at the 
Mid-year Review of the 2012-13 Budget. Final grant expense to 30 June 2013 was 
$6,524k.  
 
The variation between target and actual in Net Cost of Services is primarily attributed 
to the increase in grants expense but also unanticipated grant income of $1.5m for 
the Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing Project Extension which increased 
revenue from $147k at Budget 2012-13 to $1,647k at the Mid-Year Review. 
 
The variations between target and actual in Total Equity and Net 
Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held is linked with the increase in grant expense and 
the increase in revenue as detailed above. 
 
These matters are further explained in the notes to the Financial Statements. 
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators 
 

This summary emphasises the Commission’s commitment to providing efficient and 
effective services consistent with agreed targets. Its level of success is demonstrated 
by the extent and variety of achievements described earlier and favourable 
performance indicators which suggest a high level of cost effectiveness and 
customer satisfaction. 
 

1. Comparison of actual results against targets for effectiveness indicators. 
 

  2012/2013 

Target 

2012/2013 

Result 

Reason for Significant Variation 

between Target and  Result 

Delivers effective activities in 

assisting economic and 

social development. 

 90% 93% 

Reflects the continuing work of the 

Commission in delivery of its services 

and programs. 

Makes a positive 

contribution to economic and 

social development in the 

Kimberley 

 90% 93% 

Reflects the continuing work of the 

Commission in delivery of its services 

and programs. 

Provides a reliable source of  

information and advice. 

 90% 89% 

 Is an accessible source of  

information and advice. 

 90% 89%   

 
2. Comparison of actual results against targets for efficiency indicators.  
 

  2012/2013 

Target 

2012/2013 

Result 

Reason for Significant Variation 

between  Target and Result 

Service 1: Policies, 

strategies, plans and 

regional promotion 

  

The reduction of staff throughout the 

2012-13 financial year and 

subsequent reduction in staff hours 

has resulted in an increase in cost 

per project hour. 

Average cost per project 

hour $169 $191 

   Service 2: Industry and 

infrastructure 

identification, 

coordination and 

development 

  Average cost per project 

hour $166 $192 
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Significant Issues Impacting the Commission 
 
Current and emerging issues and trends 
 
Significant issues impacting on the Commission in 2012/2013 and highlighted in the 
State Budget for that year include: 
 

 The Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint that is being prepared by the 
Commission and is designed to provide a framework to assist facilitate an 
integrated and comprehensive approach to regional development in the 
Kimberley. It will be a focal point around which strategic planning, regional 
investment and aspirations are aligned.  

 Planning for regional development aligned with the State Planning Strategy 
and other significant regional plans, through the Kimberley Regional 
Investment Blueprint, will enhance the whole-of-government coordination 
responsibility of the Commission.  

 The Commission will maintain and enhance its focus upon housing 
affordability and availability through policy development and project 
implementation to achieve economic prosperity through housing and 
employment initiatives, particularly for key workers.  

 The Commission will prioritise regional growth centre planning to contribute to 
infrastructure provision, industry project planning and delivery.  

 To secure the region’s economic future, the Commission will continue to 
monitor resource developments and maximise the leverage of social and 
economic returns, particularly through local benefits packages focussed upon 
Indigenous employment opportunities and local business engagement.  

 Regional workforce planning and skills development continue to be regarded 
as key issues that challenge the region’s capacity to create a flexible and 
committed workforce to meet the needs of a fast growing, vibrant population.  

 Leadership, regional facilitation and coordination create an environment of 
opportunity to engage with local government, the community and business 
stakeholders to clearly define investment in cross-regional strategic projects.  

 Recognising innovation and investment opportunities are key goals of the 
Commission that drive the identification and development of new projects, 
suitable for Royalties for Regions financial support, to maximise social 
outcomes or investment in infrastructure to support our growing State.  

 The efficient delivery of quality services by the Commission, strengthened 
through the establishment of a West Kimberley Strategic Projects Unit, will 
facilitate and focus contributions to the revitalisation of the West Kimberley.  

 
 



 

Page | 39 
 

Economic and social trends 
 
The Kimberley has a unique economic and social environment within which the 
Commission and other regional stakeholders operate. A selection of economic and 
social trends below, highlights some of the key issues impacting the Commission in 
undertaking its role in social and economic development: 

 The Estimated Resident Population for the Kimberley in 2012 was 38,850. 
The resident population has grown by 19% between 2006 and 2011. 
Economic and lifestyle opportunities have encouraged a large number of 
people to the region. This provides challenges in meeting current and future 
infrastructure and service requirements. 
 

 Population growth in the Kimberley has been recorded at 3.1% per annum 
over the past five years making it the third fastest growing region, after Pilbara 
and Peel and above the State average population growth rate of 2.8%. 

 

 The resources industry provides the largest contribution (36%) to Gross 
Regional Product however is only the ninth largest employer. The largest 
employment sectors are health care and social assistance, education and 
training, public administration and construction. 
 

 Tourism WA estimates that around 275,000 people visit the Kimberley 
annually. 
 

 At the 2011 ABS Census one third of all people in the Kimberley were new to 
the region since the 2006 ABS Census. This highlights the transient nature of 
the region and impacts upon the capacity of businesses to retain key staff. 
 

 The cost of living in the Kimberley is 20% higher when compared to the metro 
area. 
 

 A consistent Kimberley unemployment rate above the state average provides 
challenges in the development of local workforce capacity. 
 

 The value of building approvals has risen from $62 million in 2002/2003 to 
$183 million in 2010/2011 demonstrating significant activity underway across 
the Kimberley. 
 

 A regional median age of 30 which is well below the State median of 36. 
 

 An Indigenous population of around 44 per cent is considerably higher than 
the State average of 3.4 per cent. 
 

 The Kimberley is geographically remote and has a sparse population across a 
vast area, There is around one person on average per 11 square kilometres, 
that provides challenges for infrastructure development and service delivery.  
 
(The above data has been sourced from the ABS unless otherwise indicated.)  
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Changes in Written Law 
 

There have been no changes to written law that impact significantly on the 
Commission.  
 

 
Likely Developments and Forecast Results of Operations 
 

It is anticipated that in 2013/2014 the Commission will continue to play a pivotal and 
high profile role in regional development. This is expected to include continued 
development of: 

 regional population growth centre strategies; 

 significant West Kimberley projects: 

 Stage two of the Kimberley Regional Investment Blueprint in collaboration with 
regional Stakeholders; 

 transformational Royalties for Regions projects 
 
It is also expected that the Commission will continue to play a significant advocacy 
role in Government’s partnership with the Northern Territory Government to progress 
irrigated agricultural expansion across the Western Australian/Northern Territory 
border.  
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance  
 

Opinion of the Auditor General 
(Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators) 
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Financial Statements 
 
KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 

The accompanying financial statements of Kimberley Development Commission have been 
prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from 
proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2013 and the financial position as at 30 June 2013. 
 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 
 

 
 

Cr Ralph Addis  
Chairman of Accountable Authority 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
  

 
 
Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Member of Accountable Authority 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
 

 
 

Steve Winter 
Chief Finance Officer  
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 

    Note 2013 2012  
COST OF SERVICES  $ $ 
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 7 1,863,680 1,971,269 
Supplies and services 8 385,893 613,094 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 9,21 42,724 19,419 
Accommodation expenses 10 224,308 257,944 
Grants and subsidies 11 6,523,655 5,736,469 
Administration expenses  12 251,820 276,796 
Total cost of services  9,292,080 8,874,991 
 
Income 
Revenue 
Interest Revenue 13 133,489 332,963 
Other revenue 14 51,819 322,858 
Total revenue  185,308 655,821 
 
Total income other than income 
from State Government  185,308 655,821 
 
NET COST OF SERVICES  9,106,772 8,219,170 
 
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 16 
Service appropriation   2,027,000 2,334,000 
Resources Received Free of Charge  13,112 9,704 
Royalties for Regions Fund  2,634,384 1,783,635 
Total income from State Government  4,674,496 4,127,339 
 
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  (4,432,276) (4,091,831) 
 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  - - 
                                                                                                                     
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (4,432,276) (4,091,831) 
 
See also note 36 “Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service”. 
 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2013 
 

 

   Note 2013   2012  
ASSETS     $ $ 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 26 750,594 738,001 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17,26 3,583,662 6,327,445 
Receivables 18 301,824 321,380 
Amounts receivable for services 19 - 123,000 
Other current assets 20 16,866 3,664 
Total current assets  4,652,946 7,513,490 
 
Non-current assets 
Amounts receivable for services 19 39,000 25,000 
Property, plant and equipment  21 134,309 40,034 
Total non-current assets  173,309 65,034 
 
TOTAL ASSETS  4,826,256 7,578,524 
 
LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 
Payables 23 2,302,518 826,427 
GST Payable  225,754 - 
Provisions 24 379,755 405,965 
Other current liabilities 23 23,557 41,479 
Total current liabilities  2,931,584 1,273,871 
 
Non-current liabilities 
Provisions 24 94,539 86,244 
Total non-current liabilities  94,539 86,244 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,026,123 1,360,115 
 
NET ASSETS  1,800,133 6,218,409 
 
EQUITY 25 
Contributed equity  145,000 131,000 
Accumulated surplus / (deficit)  1,655,133 6,087,409 
 
TOTAL EQUITY  1,800,133 6,218,409 
 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying  
notes. 
  



 

Page | 47 
 

KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
 

Note 
Contributed 

equity 
Accumulated 

surplus/(deficit) Total Equity 
              $        $         $ 
Balance at 1 July 2011  131,000 10,179,240 10,310,240 
Changes in accounting 
policy or correction of prior 
period years  

- - - 

Restated balance at 1 
July 2011  

131,000 10,179,240 10,310,240 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

  
(4,091,831) (4,091,831) 

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as 
owners: 

 
   

Capital appropriations  - - - 
Other contributions by 
owners 

 
- - - 

Distribution by owners  - - - 
     
Balance at 30 June 2012  131,000 6,087,409 6,218,409 
     
Balance at 1 July 2012  131,000 6,087,409 6,218,409 
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

  
(4,432,276) (4,432,276) 

Transactions with owners 
in their capacity as 
owners: 

 
14,000  14,000 

Capital appropriations  - - - 
Other contributions by 
owners 

 
- - - 

Distribution by owners  - - - 
     
Balance at 30 June 2013 25 145,000 1,655,133 1,800,133 
     
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

    Note 2013 2012  
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  $ $ 
Service appropriation   2,013,000 2,317,000 
Capital appropriation  14,000  - 
Holding account drawdown  123,000 - 
Royalties for the Regions Fund  2,634,384 1,783,635 
Net cash provided by State Government   4,784,384 4,100,635 
 
Utilised as follows: 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Payments  
Employee benefits   (1,909,557) (1,891,819) 
Supplies and services   (375,200) (651,956) 
Accommodation  (259,231) (221,752) 
Grants and subsidies  (4,941,423) (5,210,101) 
GST payments on purchases  82,311 60,142 
GST payments on taxation authority  (801,066) (558,976) 
Other payments   (268,681) (238,931) 
 
Receipts 
Interest received  175,526 368,344 
GST receipts on sales  413 (410) 
GST receipts from taxation authority  801,066 558,976 
Other receipts   117,015 258,866 
 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 26 (7,378,826) (7,647,900) 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Payments 
Purchase of non-current physical assets   (136,749) (10,042) 
Receipts 
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  - - 
 
Net cash (used in) investing activities   (136,749) (10,042) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Payments 
 
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,731,190) (3,557,307) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  7,065,446 10,622,753 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF PERIOD 26 4,334,256 7,065,446 
 
The Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards   
 
General     
The Commission’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standard Board (AASB). 
     
The Commission has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates. 
     
Early adoption of standards    
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’. No Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended 
(but not operative) have been early adopted by the Commission for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2013. 
     
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies    
 
(a) General Statement    
The Commission is a not-for-profit entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. Several of these are modified by 
the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 
     
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions are legislative provisions 
governing the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. 
     
Where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. 
     
(b) Basis of Preparation    
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been 
measured at fair value. 
     
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest dollar. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Commission’s accounting 
policies resulting in the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements. 
     
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. 
     
(c) Reporting Entity    
The reporting entity is the Kimberley Development Commission.   
     
(d) Contributed Equity    
AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities’ requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) 
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by Treasurer’s Instruction TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 
     
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 
     
(e) Income     
Revenue recognition    
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 
     
Sale of goods     
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership control transfer to the purchaser and can be 
measured reliably. 
     
Provision of services    
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 
     
Interest     
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.    
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
Service Appropriations    
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Commission gains control of the appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the  
‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 
     
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions   
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Commission obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received. 
     
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their 
fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated. 
      
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the 
Commission obtains control over the funds. The Commission obtains control of the funds at the 
time the funds are deposited into the Commission’s bank account. 
     
Gains 
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 
     
(f) Borrowing Costs    
Borrowing costs for qualifying assets are capitalised net of any investment income earned on 
the unexpended portion of the borrowings. Other borrowing costs are expensed when incurred. 
     
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be capitalised is the 
weighted average interest rate applicable to the Commission’s outstanding borrowings during 
the year, in this case 6.3% (2012: 6.3%). 
     
(g) Property, Plant and Equipment    
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets    
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and 
the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, 
plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total). 
     



 

Page | 52 
 

KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
Initial recognition and measurement    
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 
     
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is 
their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
     
Subsequent measurement    
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the cost model is used for the measurement of all 
property, plant and equipment. All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
     
Derecognition     
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 
     
Asset revaluation surplus    
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets as described in note 22 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 
     
Depreciation     
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 
     
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 
     
 Office equipment   5 years 

 Computer hardware and software (a)   3 to 5 years 

 Office fit-out   10-25 years 

     
(a)

 Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

     
Works of art controlled by the Commission are classified as property, plant and equipment. 
These are anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in any 
material sense, been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been 
recognised. 
     
(h) Intangible Assets    
Capitalisation/Expensing of assets    
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible 
assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal 
cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
     
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
     
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All 
intangible assets controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and zero residual value.  

     
The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 
 Licences  up to 10 years 

 Research and Development Costs  3 to 5 years 

 Software (a)  3 to 5 years 

 Web site costs  3 to 5 years 
 

 (a)
 Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware. 

     
Licences     
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 
     
Development costs    
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an individual project 
are carried forward when the future economic benefits can reasonably be regarded as assured 
and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs are 
expensed as incurred. 
     
Computer Software    
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and 
equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an 
intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
     
Web site costs    
Web site costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the 
acquisition or development of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a web site, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in 
building or enhancing a web site, to the extent that they represent probable future economic 
benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

(i) Impairment of Assets    
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at cost is written down to recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written 
down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other 
comprehensive income. As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 
     
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated or where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s 
future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
     
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment. 
     
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
     
(j) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale  
The Commission does not have any Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held 
for sale. 
     
(k) Leases     
Finance lease rights and obligations are initially recognised, at the commencement of the lease 
term, as assets and liabilities equal in amount to the fair value of the leased item or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. 
The assets are disclosed as plant, equipment and vehicles under lease, and are depreciated 
over the period during which the Commission is expected to benefit from their use.  Minimum 
lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the 
outstanding lease liability, according to the interest rate implicit in the lease. 
 
The Commission holds operating leases for head office and a number of branch office 
buildings and motor vehicles. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the  
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties and 
vehicles. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

    
(l) Financial Instruments    
In addition to cash, the Commission has two categories of financial instrument: 

 Loans and receivables; and    

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.    
 

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 
 

 Financial Assets    
o Cash and cash equivalents    
o Restricted cash and cash equivalents    
o Receivables    
o Amounts receivable for services    

 

 Financial Liabilities    
o Payables    

     
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 
     
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as 
the effect of discounting is not material. 
     
(m) Cash and Cash Equivalents    
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted 
cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
     
(n) Accrued Salaries    
Accrued salaries (see note 23 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end. The Commission considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its 
fair value. 
     
(o) Amounts Receivable for Services (holding account)   
The Commission receives funding from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an 
asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the 
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset 
replacement. 
     
(p) Inventories    
The Commission does not hold any inventories for sale. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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(q) Receivables    
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the 
allowable amount. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Commission will not be able to collect the debts. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
(r) Payables     
Payables are recognised when the Commission becomes obliged to make future payments as 
a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
they are generally settled within 30 days. 
 
(s) Borrowings    
The Commission does not have any borrowings at the end of reporting period. 
 
(t) Amounts due to the Treasurer     
The Commission does not have any amounts due to Treasurer at the end of reporting period. 
 
(u) Provisions    
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
 
Provisions - Employee Benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees services up to 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Annual Leave 
The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled.  
 
Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

The provision for annual leave is classified as current liability as the Commission does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. 
 
Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled.  
 
Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.  
     
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
 
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. Pre-conditional and Conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the 
requisite years of service. 
 
Superannuation    
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates. 
     
Eligible employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
now closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a 
defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 
 
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for Commission purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Commission to GESB 
extinguishes the Commission’s obligations to the related superannuation liability 

 
The Commission has no liabilities under the Pension or the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for 
the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS Scheme transfer benefits due to 
members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other 
GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Commission to the 
GESB. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

 
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either 
the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 
2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred 
superannuation fund. The Authority makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on 
behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish 
the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and GSS Schemes, and is 
recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share. 
 
Provisions - Other 
Employment On-Costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not 
included as part of the Commission’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is 
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’. 
     
(v) Superannuation Expense    
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), WSS the GESBS and other 
superannuation funds. 
 
(w) Assets and Services Received Free of Charge or for Nominal Cost   
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as income at the 
fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured 
and the Commission would otherwise pay for. A corresponding expense is recognised for 
services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 
     
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
     
(x) Jointly controlled operations    
The Commission does not have any jointly controlled operations.     
     
(y) Comparative Figures    
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year. 
     
(z) Rounding    
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, or in certain 
cases, to the nearest thousand dollars. 
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Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies  
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. The Commission evaluates these judgements regularly. 

Operating lease commitments     
The Commission has entered into a number of leases for buildings for branch office 
accommodation.  Some of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature and it has 
been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership.  Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases. 

Note 4. Other accounting policies 

The Commission has not adopted or implemented any other accounting policies during the 
report year. 

Note 5. Key sources of estimation uncertainty    
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave    
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Commission’s long service leave 
provision include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and 
expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

Note 6. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Voluntary changes in Accounting Policy 

There is no voluntary change in accounting policy in year 2013. 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Commission has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for 
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the 
Commission. 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation 
of items Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] 

This Standard requires to group items presented in other 
comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are 
potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently 
(reclassifaction adjustments). There is no financial impact. 
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 
The Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Commission has not applied early any following 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Commission. 
Where applicable, the Commission plans to apply these Standards from their application date. 
 

 Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments  
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments. 

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and 
Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory application 
date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Authority has 
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 Jan 2015 

AASB10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes requirements under AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments. 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB11 Joint Arrangements 
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 
127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 
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AASB13 Fair Value Measurement 
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for 
measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures about fair 
value measurements. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB119 Employee Benefits 

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), 
making changes to the recognition, presentation and 
disclosure requirements. 

The Authority does not have any defined benefit plans, and 
therefore the financial impact will be limited to the effect of 
discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities 
that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB127 Separate Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments. 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments. 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by 
one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose financial statements. There is no 
financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 
This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary 
disclosures, the circumstances in which they are to be 
included in the general purpose financial statements of 
not-for-profit entities within the GGS. The Authority will be 
required to disclose additional budgetary information and 
explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted 
amounts, though there is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2014 
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AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements (AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 
107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 
133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 
17, 127, 129 & 1052) 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting 
Standards, and Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure 
requirements for certain types of entities. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 9 in December 2010. 

AASB 2012-06 amended the mandatory application date of this 
standard to 1 January 2015. The Commission has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Trans-Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054] 

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve 
convergence between Australian and New Zealand Accounting 
Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There is no financial 
impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity Method 
and Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131] 

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the 
equity method and proportionate consolidation by removing 
the requirement for the consolidated financial statements 
prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity 
to be IFRS compliant, provided that the parent entity, 
investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent 
entity comply with Australian Accounting Standards or 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 
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AASB 2011-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 
7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17] 

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes 
arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 
Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities 
it applies to annual reporting period beginning on or after 
1 January 2014. The Authority has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 
108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 
136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 
14, 17, 19, 131 & 132 

      
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value 
guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result  of issuing AASB 13 in 
September 2011. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 
& 2011-8 and Int 14] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing 
AASB 119 in September 2011. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-11 
Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disc losure Requirements  for  AASB 119 
(September 2011). There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value 
Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AA SB 3, 7, 
13, 140 & 141] 

This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure 
requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising from 
AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented 
through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 
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AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132] 

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 
to include information that will enable users of an entity’s 
financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect 
of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off 
associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and 
recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There 
is no financial impact. 

 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
[AASB 132] 

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to 
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the 
offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and that 
some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. There is no financial impact. 
 

1 Jan 2014 

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 
116, 132 & 134 and Int 2] 

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
consequence of the annual improvements process. There is no 
financial impact. 
 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 
& 127] 

This Standard adds to or amends the Australian 
Accounting Standards to provide further information 
regarding the differential reporting framework and the two 
tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general financial 
statement. There is no financial impact. 

 

1 Jul 2013 
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AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 
7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 
128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 
and Int 12] 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related 
Standards to revise the transition guidance relevant to the 
initial application of those Standards, and to clarify the 
circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s previous 
accounting for its involvement with other entities are 
required and the timing of such adjustments. 
The Standard was issued in December 2012. The 
Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Other Amendments 
[AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 2011-4] 

This Standard makes various editorial corrections to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements (Tier 2). These corrections ensure that the 
Standards reflect decisions of the AASB regarding the 
Tier 2 requirements. 
This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation 
and the equity method (in the new Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards) to entities complying with 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2013 
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2013 2012 

Note 7. Employee benefits expense  $ $ 
Wages and salaries (a)  1,354,353 1,469,706 
GROH rental expense  166,217 200,769 
Staff travel expense  78,050 66,501 
Other staffing costs(a)  120,473 90,990 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  144,317 143,303 
   1,863,680 1,971,269 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, 

leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions 

paid). 

Employment on-costs expenses such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 12 

'Administration expenses'.  

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'. 

Note 8. Supplies and services 
Communications  40,547 41,070 
Consumables  47,029 67,828 
Services & contracts  298,317 504,195 
   385,893 613,094 

Note 9. Depreciation and amortisation expense 
Depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment  42,724 19,419 

Total depreciation  42,274 19,419 
Amortisation 
Intangible assets  - - 
Total amortisation  - - 
Total depreciation and amortisation  42,274 19,419 

Note 10. Accommodation expenses 
Lease rentals  199,448 239,728 
Repairs and maintenance  7,661 1,381 
Utilities  17,199 16,836 

   224,308 257,944 

Note 11. Grants and subsidies  
Recurrent 
State Government  - 244,266 
Local Government  - 489,150 
Community  4,911,905 2,656,258 
Private bodies sponsorship  - 20,000 
Royalties for Regions Funds- 
Regional Community Services Account  1,611,570 2,326,795 
    6,523,655 5,736,469 
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    2013  2012 
Note 12. Administration expenses   $ $ 
Operating lease fleet vehicles  44,633 53,224 
Repairs and maintenance  38,488 53,681 
Travel - non-staff related  55,187 48,743 
Audit fees  47,400 42,400 
Insurances(a)  28,761 25,580 
Other administration expenses(a)  37,351 53,167 
   251,820 276,796 

 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability 

associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 24 

'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee 

benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

 

Note 13. Interest Revenue 
Interest Revenue (a)  133,489 332,963 
   133,489 332,963 

(a) Interest earned was the Ord Enhancement Scheme Treasury Participating Fund. 

     
Note 14. Other revenue 
Recoups of expenditure from various bodies  11,486 129,412 
Sundry income  6,407 1,358 
Refund of grant payment  577 4,488 
Other receipts  33,350 187,600 
   51,819 322,858 
 
Note 15. Net gain/loss on disposal of non-current assets 
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 
Office equipment  - 500 
Costs of disposal of non-current assets 
Office equipment  - (3,055) 
Net gain/(loss)  - (2,555) 
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   2013 2012 
Note 16. Income from State Government $ $ 
Appropriation received during the year: 
Service appropriation (a)  2,027,000 2,334,000 
   2,027,000  2,334,000 
 
Resources received free of charge: (b) 
Determined on the basis of the following estimates 
Provided by agencies: 
Department of Finance Building Management and Works  13,112  9,704 
    13,112  9,704 
 
Royalties for Regions Fund: 
Regional grants scheme  517,083 1,508,000 
Regional workers incentives allowance payments  79,539 75,635 
Regional community services fund (c)  2,037,762 200,000 
   2,634,384 1,783,635 
 
   4,674,496 4,127,339 
 
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash 

component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for 

the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

 
(b)  Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities between State Government agencies are 

reported under Income from State Government. Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure of 
administrative arrangements are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by 
owners by the transferee under AASB 1004 in respect of net assets transferred. Other non-discretionary non-
reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under TI 955 are also 
recognised directly to equity. 
 

(c) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed 
to projects and programs in WA regional areas. 
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   2013 2012 
Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents $ $ 
Current 
Community Resource Centre Wyndham  74.930 75,000 
Kimberley Regional Development Scheme  237,795 264,287 
Regional Investment Fund  17,000 17,000 
Telecentre  75,000 75,000 
Indigenous Arts  10,000 10,000 
Kimberley Capabilities Register  20,402 24,900 
Ord Enhancement Scheme  2,199,342 5,566,744 
Royalties for Regions Fund(a)  737,429 68,071 
Warmun Re-Establishment Taskforce  190,153 204,037 
KDC 27th Pay Period  21,611 22,406 
Total current restricted cash  3,583,662 6,327,445 
 

(a) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas. 

 
Note 18. Receivables 
Current 
Receivables  1,192 72,610 
GST receivable  277,155 184,006 
Interest receivable  21,485 63,522 
Other receivable  1,992 1,242 
   301,824 321,380 
 
The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for 
receivables. 
 
Note 19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 
Current   - 123,000 
Non-current  39,000 25,000 
    39,000 148,000 
 
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 
 
Note 20. Other Assets 
Current 
Prepayments  16,866 3,664 
   16,866 3,664 
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           2013   2012  
Note 21. Property, plant and equipment  $ $ 
Improvements - leasehold 
At cost   130,226 130,226 
Accumulated depreciation   (122,556) (109,407) 
   7,670 20,819 

Furniture, Fixtures & Fittings  79,140 6,407 
Accumulated depreciation  (11,897 (6,003) 
   67,243 404 

Computing equipment 
At cost  83,275 19,009 
Accumulated depreciation  (35,179) (15,086) 
   48,096 3,923 

Office equipment 
At cost  17,937 17,937 
Accumulated depreciation  (6,637) (3,049) 
   11,300 14,888 

Total property, plant and equipment  134,309 40,034 

Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and 
end of the reporting period are set out below. 

 Improvements 
Leasehold 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 
Fittings 

Computing 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment 

Total 

2013 $ $ $ $ $ 

Carrying amount at 
start of period  

20,819 404 3,924 14,887 40,034 

Additions  72,733 64,266  136,999 

Depreciation (13,149) (5,894) (20,094) (3,587) (42,724) 

Carrying amount at 
end of period 

7,670 67,243 48,096 11,300 134,309 

2012      

Carrying amount at 
start of period  

33,967 659 6,167 11,674 52,467 

Additions    10,042 10,042 

Disposals    (12,643) (12,643) 

Depreciation (13,148) (255) (2,243) (3,773) (19,419) 

Depreciation write-back    9,587 9,587 

Carrying amount at 
end of period 

20,819 404 3,924 14,887 40,034 
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Note 22. Impairment of assets 
There were no indications of impairment of property, plant and equipment, or intangible 
assets at 30 June 2013. 
 
The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during 
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not 
yet available for use. 
 
All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified as assets held for sale or 
written off. 
                

                

           2013   2012 

Note 23. Payables $ $ 
Current  
Trade payables  2,251,420 732,077 
GST Payable  225,754 - 
Other payables  51,098 94,350 
Accrued expenses   2,251 9,961 
Accrued salaries  21,306 31,518 
   2,551,829 867,906 
 
Note 24. Provisions 
Current 
Employee benefits provision 
Annual leave (a)  185,325 180,568 
Long service leave (b)  152,107 182,225 
   337,432 362,793 
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs(c)  42,323 43,172 
 
Total current provisions  379,755 405,965 
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   2013 2012 
   $ $ 
Non-current 
Employee benefits provision 
Long service leave (b)  85,833 78,723 
   85.833 78,723 
Other provisions 
Employment on-costs(c)  8,705 7,521 

    
Total non-current provisions  94,539 86,244 
 
(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as  there is no unconditional 

right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after reporting date. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

     
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 185,325 180,568 
More than 12 months after reporting date  - - 

   185,325 180,568 
 
(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 

unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows: 

 
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 47,149 96,045 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 190,791 164,903 

   237,940 260,948 
 
(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities give rise to the payment of 

employment on-costs including workers compensation insurance. The provision is 
the present value of expected future payments.  

 
The associated expense is included at note 12 ‘Administration expenses'. 
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Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below. 
   2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Employment on-cost provision 
Carrying amount at start of year  50,693 39,501 
Additional provisions recognised  335 11,192 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits  - - 
Carrying amount at end of year  51,028 50,693 
 
Note 25. Equity 

The Government holds the equity interest in the Commission on behalf of the community. 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Commission. The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-
current assets. 
 
Contributed equity 
Balance at start of year  131,000 131,000 
Contributions by owners  14,000 - 
Capital contribution  - - 
Balance at end of year  145,000 131,000 
 
Accumulated surplus/ (deficit) 
Balance at start of year  6,087,409 10,179,240 
Result for the period  (4,432,276) (4,091,831) 
Balance at end of year  1,655,133 6,087,409 
 
Note 26. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:  
 
Cash and cash equivalent  750,594 738,001 
Restricted cash and cash equivalent (refer to note 17)  3,583,662 6,327,445 
   4,334,256 7,065,446 
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   2013 2012 
   $ $ 
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by / (used in) 
operating activities 
Net cost of services   (9,106,772)       (8,219,170) 
 
Non-cash items: 
Depreciation expense (note 9)  42,724 19,419 
Resources received free of charge   13,112 9,704 
Net loss on sale of plant and equipment   - 3,055 
 
(Increase)/decrease in assets: 
Current receivables (a)  112,706 (36,308) 
Other current assets  (13,202) 303 
 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities: 
Current payables (a)  1,525,720 554,666 
Current provisions  (26,211) 67,103 
Other current liabilities  (17,922) (116,887) 
Non-current provisions  8,295 10,483 
 
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b)  (49,881) 167,559 
Change in GST receivables/payables (c)  132,605 (107,827) 
Net cash (used in) operating activities  (7,378,826) (7,647,900) 

(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the 

receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as 

they do not form part of the reconciling items. 

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions. 

(c) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables. 

 
Note 27. Resources received free of charge 
During the period the following services were provided 
by the Department of Finance: 
Building Management and Works –  
Government Accommodation  13,112 9,704 
   13,112 9,704 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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   2013 2012 
   $ $ 
Note 28. Commitments 

Lease commitments 
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but 
not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year  180,202 210,453 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  421,622 531,174 
Later than 5 years  - 64,969 
   601,823 806,596 
Representing: 
Cancellable operating leases  47,898 86,326 
Non-cancellable operating leases  554,325 720,270 
   601,823 806,596 
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year   155,231 167,301 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   399,094 488,000 
Later than 5 years    - 64,969 
    554,325 720,270 

Office leases are due for review in 2014 and 2018 and therefore are considered as non-
cancellable operating leases 

Other expenditure commitments 
Other expenditure commitments are purchases orders issued to the end of the reporting 
period but not recognised as liabilities, are payable: 
     2013 2012 
    $ $ 
Within 1 year    47,115 7,280 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   - - 
    47,115 7,280 

Note 29. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
There are no contingent liabilities or assets that the Commission is aware of as at 30 
June 2013. 

Contaminated Sites 
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Commission is required to report known 
and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment and Conservation 
(DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk to 
human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as 
contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, 
the Commission may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses. 

The Commission has no known or suspected contaminated sites. 
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For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 

Note 30. Events occurring after the balance sheet date 
There were no significant events occurring after the balance sheet date. 

Note 31. Explanatory statement 
This statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and 
actual results for 2013 and between the actual results for 2013 and 2012. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10%. 

Significant variances between estimated and actual results for 2013 
 
   2013 2013  Variance 
    Estimate Actual  
    $’000 $’000 $’000 
Income from State Government 
Royalties for Regions fund 2,858 2,634 (224) 

Other revenue 22 52 30 
Expenses 
Employee benefits 1,523 1,864 341 
Grants and subsidies 7,605 6,524 (1,081) 
Supplies & services 936 386 (550) 
Accommodation 267 224 (43) 

Royalties for regions fund (R4R ($’000) 
Variance is due to reduced income associated with the Royalties for Regions - Regional  
Grants Scheme -$80; Country Local Government Fund -$115 and Planning , Business  
case & Capacity Building -$29. 

Other revenue ($'000) 
Variance due to receipt of income $31 for administration expenses associated with the $1.5m  
Royalties for Regions grant for extension to the Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing 
Project - Kununurra. 

Employee benefits ($'000) 
Variance is due to the Ord Enhancement Scheme project extending by 6 months to June  
2013 which added $247 to employee costs. In addition, Government Corrective  
Measures implemented September 2012 reduced the budget by $157. 

Grants and subsidies ($'000) 
Variance due to underspend on Royalties for Regions grants $85 against a budget of  
$872. In addition, grants for the Ord Enhancement Scheme project were over estimated  
by $250. 

Supplies and Services 
Variance is primarily due to limited ability to spend funds relative to Royalties for Regions  
Country Local Government Fund and also funds held for Planning, Business Case and  
Capacity Building. 

Accommodation 
Variance primarily due to variable outgoings being much less in the 2012-13 year  
when compared to the 2011-12 year. Budget was also over estimated. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2013 
  2013 2012  Variance 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 
Income 
Service appropriation 2,027 2,334 (307) 
Royalties for Regions funding 2,634 1,784 850 
Interest revenue 133 333 (200) 
Other revenue 52 323 (271) 
 
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense  1,864 1,945 (92) 
Supplies and services 386 613 (203) 
Grants and subsidies 6,524 5,736 788 
Accommodation 224 258 (34) 
Depreciation 43 19 24 

Service appropriation ($'000 
Appropriation in 2012 included a final instalment of $200 to assist the Warmun  
Re-Establishment Taskforce. In addition, Government Corrective Measures  
reduced appropriation by $157 in September 2012. 

Royalties for Regions Funding  
Variance is due to additional funding $1.5m provided for the Kimberley Aboriginal Community 
Housing Project Extension - Kununurra and revised cashflow funding associated with 
Royalties for Regions programs. 

Interest revenue 
Variance due to a progressive reduction in restricted cash held on behalf of the Ord 
Enhancement Scheme resulting in less interest earned as grant payments expensed. 

Other revenue ($'000) 
During the 2011-12 financial year, revenue $187 was received for administration costs 
associated with the Kimberley Aboriginal Housing Project. In the current year, this funding was 
$31. Income in 2011-12 also included a one off recoup of funds $119 associated with the 
Warmun Aboriginal Community Re-Establishment Taskforce.  

Employee benefits expense 
Variance is due to reduced FTE in employ during the year. 

Supplies and services 
Variance is due to a significant reduction in spending associated with the Warmun Aboriginal 
Community Re-Establishment Taskforce and also limited expenditure of Royalties for Regions 
funds (Royalties for Regions Country Local Government Fund and also Planning, Business 
Case and Capacity Building). 
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Grants and subsidies 
Variance is due to the Ord Enhancement Scheme project concluding and final grant funds of 
$2.2m paid. 

Depreciation ($'000) 
Asset purchases of $137 during the year has resulted in additional depreciation expense. 

Note 32. Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by the Commission are cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash and cash equivalents, loans and receivables and payables. The Commission has 
limited exposure to financial risks. The Commission's overall risk management program 
focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Commission’s receivables defaulting 
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Commission. The 
Commission measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular 
basis. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each 
class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive 
of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at Note 32 ‘Financial instruments 
disclosures’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’.  

Credit risk associated with the Commission’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other 
than government, the Commission trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. 
The Commission has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are 
monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Commission’s exposure to bad 
debts is minimal. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk.   

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Commission is unable to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. 

The Commission is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of 
business. 

The Commission has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown 
of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet its commitments. 
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Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Commission’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  The Commission does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks.   

The Commission’s has no exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates because 
apart from the amount of restricted cash relating to Ord Enhancement Scheme, all other 
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and the 
Commission has no borrowings.   
 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 
 
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 
     2013  2012 
   $  $ 
Financial assets 
Cash and Cash equivalents  750,594 738,001 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  3,583,662 6,327,445 
Loans and receivables (a)  63,669 285,374 

(a)  The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO  
(statutory receivable). 

 
(c) Financial Instruments Disclosure 

 
Credit risk, liquidity risk and interest risk exposure 
The following table discloses the Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing 
analysis of financial assets. The Commission’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of 
the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table 
discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial 
assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Commission. 
 
The Commission does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating 
to the financial assets it holds. 
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 Weighted  
Average 
Effective 
Interest 
Rate % 

Carrying 
Amount 
 
 
      $ 

Variable 
Interest 
Rate 
 
      $ 

Non- 
Interest 
Bearing 
 
      $ 

Up to 
1 month 
 
 
      $ 

1-3 months 
 
 
 
      $ 

3 months 
to 1 year 
 
 
      $ 

1-5 years 
 
 
 
      $ 

More than 
5 years 
 
 
      $ 

2013          

Financial Assets          

Cash & cash equivalents     750,594     750,594    750,594     

Restricted cash & cash 
equivalents 

    3.4 3,583,662 2,199,342 1,384,320 3,583,662     

Receivables (a)      24,669       24,669      24,669     

Amounts receivable for 
services 

     39,000       39,000        39,000   

  4,397,925 2,199,342 2,198,583 4,358,925       39,000   

Financial Liabilities          

Payables  2,302,518  2,302,518 2,302,518     

  2,302,518  2,302,518 2,302,518     

          

2012          

Financial Assets          

Cash & cash equivalents     738,001     738,001    738,001     

Restricted cash & cash 
equivalents 

    4.7 6,327,445 5,570,497    756,948 6,327,445     

Receivables (a)     137,374     137,374    137,374     

Amounts receivable for 
services 

    148,000     148,000       148,000   

  7,350,820 5,570,497 1,780,323 7,202,820      148,000   

Financial Liabilities          

Payables     713,127     713,127    713,127     

     713,127     713,127    713,127     
 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable) 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Commission’s 
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period 
and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is 
held constant throughout the reporting period. 

 
 -100 basis points +100 basis points 

 
Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

2013 $ $’000 $’000 $’000    $’000 

Financial Assets      

Restricted cash and  
cash equivalents 

3,583,662 (35,837) (35,837) 35,837 35,837 

Total Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

(35,837) (35,837) 35,837 35,837 

 
2012 

 
 

   

 Financial Assets     

Restricted cash and  
cash equivalents 

6,327,445 (63,274) (63,274) 63,274 63,274 

Total Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

(63,274) (63,274) 63,274 63,274 

Fair values 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether 
they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable 
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 

 

Note 33. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers 

Remuneration of members of the accountable authority 
The numbers of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 
   2013 2012 
$1 - $10,000  7 7 
$10,001 - $20,000  1 1 
$30,001 - $40,000  1 1 
$190,001 - $200,000  - 1 
$230,001 - $240,000  1 - 

   $ $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation  304,194 258,168 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  202,660 152,798 
Other benefits  51,138 35,361 
The total remuneration of the members of the   557,992 446,327 
accountable authority: 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in 
respect of members of the accountable authority. 
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Note 34. Remuneration of senior officers 
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are: 
 
    2013 2012 
$130,001 - $140,000    - 1 
$160,001 - $170,000    1 - 
The total remuneration of senior officers is:   $   $ 
Base remuneration and superannuation   165,444 131,731 
Annual leave and long service leave accruals   57,416 73,858 
Other benefits   6,498  5,640 
   $229,358 $211,229 
 
The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in 
respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable 
authority. 
 
No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 
 
Note 35. Remuneration of auditor 
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows: 
   2013 2012 
              
           $        $ 
Auditing the accounts, financial statements  
and key performance indicators  35,500 34,500 
 
Payment for auditing services is paid in the following year. Audit fee for 2012-13 will be paid 
in 2013-14. 
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Note 36 Schedule of income and expenses by service 

    

Regional Promotion 
Industry & 

Infrastructure  
Total 

 
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

COST OF SERVICES $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Expenses  

      Employee benefits expense 1,006,387 847,646 857,293 1,123,623 1,863,680 1,971,269 
Supplies and services 208,382 263,630 177,511 349,464 385,893 613,094 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 23,071 8,350 19,653 11,069 42,724 19,419 
Accommodation expenses 121,126 110,916 103,182 147,028 224,308 257,944 
Grants and subsidies 3,522,774 2,466,682 3,000,881 3,269,787 6,523,655 5,736,469 
Administration expenses  135,983 119,022 115,837 157,774 251,820 276,796 
Total cost of services 5,017,723 3,816,246 4,274,357 5,058,745 9,292,080 8,874,991 
Income  

      
Interest revenue - 0 133,489 332,963 133,489 332,963 
Other revenue 9,662 584 42,157 322,274 51,819 322,858 
Total income other than income from State 
Government  

9,662 584 175,646 655,237 185,308 655,821 

NET COST OF SERVICES 5,008,061 3,815,662 4,098,711 4,403,508 9,106,772 8,219,170 

       
INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 

     
Service appropriation 1,094,580 1,003,620 932,420 1,330,380 2,027,000 2,334,000 
Resources received free of charge 7,080 4,173 6,032 5,531 13,112 9,704 
Royalties for Regions 612,567 766,963 2,021,817 1,016,672 2,634,384 1,783,635 
Total income from State Government 1,714,227 1,744,756 2,960,269 2,352,583 4,674,496 4,127,339 

Surplus/(deficit) for the period (3,293,834) (2,040,906) (1,138,442) (2,050,925) (4,432,276) (4,091,831) 
 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
 

 

 
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Kimberley Development 
Commission’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Commission 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 
 

 
 
Cr Ralph Addis 
Chairperson 
Kimberley Development Commission 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
 

 
 
Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Chief Executive 
Kimberley Development Commission 
 
Date: 10 September 2013 
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Key Performance Indicators 
 
Performance management enhances the transparency and accountability of the 
Commission and enables its service delivery to be readily assessed as it works to 
achieve desired outcomes that are consistent with its statutory responsibilities and 
high level government goals (described in Section 1). 
 
The desired outcome from the Commission’s activities is: “An environment 
conducive to the balanced economic and social development of the Kimberley 
Region” 
 
Accordingly, the Commission delivers two major services to its customers:  

 Policies, strategies, plans and regional promotion 
 Industry and infrastructure identification, coordination and development 

 
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instructions 904 and 903(8), the Commission has key 
performance indicators for efficiency and effectiveness and includes a discussion of 
actual results against budget targets for both financial and non-financial indicators. 
Comparative information for the current and previous four reporting years has been 
included. 
 
Key Performance Indicator of Effectiveness – Customer Survey  
 
An annual customer survey is used to monitor the Commission’s level of customer 
service and support its key performance indicators. Customer satisfaction is 
measured against a range of elements of the Commissions service, including the 
effectiveness of the Commission in achieving seven different outcomes through the 
delivery of services. 
 
Advantage Communications was engaged to complete the client survey on the 
Commission’s behalf for the 2012/2013 financial year. The same survey was used as 
previous years to allow for comparative analysis.  
 
Respondent Profile 
 
This year’s customer survey was completed by 110 respondents with 32% from the 
Perth metropolitan area, 65% from regional Western Australia and 4% from 
interstate. The Commission provided Advantage Communications with a list of 152 
clients of which the sample group of 110 provides a maximum survey error of +/-5% 
at the 95% confidence level. 
 
The respondent group comprised 42% from the State Government Sector of 
Western Australia, 26% from the Private Sector, 24% from Community 
Organisations, 6% from the Commonwealth Government and 4% from Local 
Government. Respondents were also categorised according to industry, with the 
largest percentages working in Government/public administration/defence (37%) and 
community services (23%). 
 
The respondents had varying levels of contact with the Commission; 56% had 
monthly, 15% weekly, 21% half yearly and 8% annually. 
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Effectiveness Indicator 1 
 

The Kimberley Development Commission is effective and makes a positive contribution to 
economic and social development in the Kimberley 

 
The survey results illustrate the perceived effectiveness of the Commission in contributing to 
the economic and social development in the Kimberley. This outcome reinforces the positive 
impact the Commission is having in this area. The overall result is consistent with the high 
standard achieved in the previous four years. 
 

 
 

Strongly 
Agree (%) 

Agree (%) 
Disagree 
(%) 

Strongly 
Disagree 
(%) 

Don’t 
Know (%) 

Total 
(%) 

2008/09 42 47 6 0 5 100 

2009/10 32 61 1 1 5 100 

2010/11 49 41 2 0 8 100 

2011/12 30 64 3 0 3 100 

2012/13 36 57 2 2 3 100 

 

 
Effectiveness Indicator 2 
 

The extent to which the Commission is assessed by its clients as a reliable and accessible 
source of information and advice on the Kimberley region and regional development issues 

 
The provision of high quality information is an important component of the Commission’s 
regional development activities. Similarly to previous years, survey respondents were asked 
to indicate whether they considered the Commission to be a reliable source of information 
and advice on regional development issues. The table below provides the last five years’ 
results for this outcome. 
 
The 2012/13 outcome, whilst slightly below 2011/12 is still pleasing as it reinforces the 
positive impact the Commission is having in this area. These results suggest that 
respondents are taking the opportunity to access information and continue to be reliably 
informed. The overall results for this outcome indicate a consistent and steady trend over the 
last four years. 
 

 
 

Strongly 
Agree (%) 

Agree  
(%) 

Disagree  
(%) 

Strongly 
Disagree 
(%) 

Don’t 
Know (%) 

Total 
(%) 

2008/09 40 51 5 0 3 100 

2009/10 34 57 4 0 5 100 

2010/11 43 47 1 0 9 100 

2011/12 36 55 5 0 4 100 

2012/13 39 50 3 3 5 100 
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The section of the survey seeking respondent views on “staff provide professional and 
helpful service” again resulted in a consistently high response with 95% indicating 
agreement that Commission staff provided professional and helpful advice.  

 

Key Performance Indicators of Efficiency  
 

The efficiency indicators for the services are calculated by the cost of the projects divided by 
the number of project hours allocated by staff. To calculate the cost per project hour, grant 
income and expenditure are deducted from the Total Operating Cost. Using hours spent on 
each service a ratio to total hours is calculated and this ratio then determines the Total 
Operating Cost for each service. For the 2012-13 year the ratio of hours has been 
determined at 54% for Service one and 46% for Service two. The Commission had 
announced in the 2012/13 Budget a ratio of 43% and 57% respectively for the Services, 
however, Government initiatives placed considerably more emphasis into strategies and 
plans that flowed impacted on Service one. 
 
 

Efficiency Indicators 
 

Service 1:  Policies, strategies, plans and regional promotion 
 
 

 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 

Total Operating Cost 1,394,883 1,067,561 1,099,929 3,363,553 1,063,924 

Number of Project 
Hours 

7313 6608 5,688 4,863 5,576 

Cost per Project Hour $191 $162 $193 $692 $191 

 

 
Service 2:  Industry and infrastructure identification, coordination and 
development 
 
 

 2012/13 2011/12 2010/11 2009/10 2008/09 

Total Operating Cost 1,188,234 1,415,140 1,518,950 19,846,690 1,469,224 

Number of Project 
Hours 

6181 8802 7,703 7,007 7,701 

Cost per Project Hour $192 $161 $197 $2,832 $191 

 
 
The increase in cost per project hour of $29 and $31 respectively, when compared to 
2011/12, is due to an overall decrease in project hours due to a reduction in staff numbers 
during the year. 
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Ministerial Directives 
 

No Ministerial directives were received by the Commission during the financial year. 
 
 

Other Financial Disclosures 
 
Pricing policies of services provided 
 
The Commission has not rendered any goods or services in the last financial year for 
which a charge has been required.  

 
 
Capital projects completed 
 
No capital projects were commenced, underway or completed in 2012/2013. 

 
 
Employment and Industrial Relations 
 
Staff Profile  
 

Staff Employed (not 
FTE) 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Full-time permanent  7 7 9 8 8 6 

Full-time contract 3 4 3* 5* 5* 1 

Part-time permanent 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Part-time contract 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Positions vacant 
 

0 0 0 0 0 4 

Total staff employed 11 12 13 14 14 12 
 
Note: The four vacant positions include two vacated at the end of the year through the transition of the Ord 
Enhancement Scheme to MG Corp and two vacant clerical positions. 

 
 

Professional (Staff) Development 
 
To achieve high level outcomes in the Kimberley with a small workforce (12FTE), the 
Commission provides a practical learning environment where staff work together to 
enhance individual and organisational skill sets. This approach is complemented by 
the Commissions Professional Development Program and compliance with related 
clauses in the Public Service Award 1992, and the Public Service General 
Agreement 2011. 

 
Worker’s Compensation Claims 
 
The Commission received no Worker’s Compensation Claims in 2012/2013. 
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Governance Disclosures 
 
Contracts with Senior Officers 
 
At the date of reporting, no Senior Officers, or firms of which Senior Officers are 
Members or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission other than normal 
contracts of employment of service. 
 
On the 28 August 2012, $6,472.27 (inc. GST and Stamp Duty) was paid, via 
RiskCover, to indemnify all Board Members and Senior Officers, as listed in Section 
1 Overview of this report, against a liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the 
Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996. 

 
Other Legal Requirements  
 
This section of the Annual Report provides a summary of the Commission’s 
compliance with legislation other than the Financial Management Act 2006, Financial 
Management Regulations 2007 and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
 
 

Advertising 
(The Electoral Act 1907, Section 175ZE) 
 

The Commission incurred the following expenditure in advertising, market research, 
polling, direct mail and media advertising: 

1. Total expenditure for 2012/2013 was $6,549.32. 
2. Expenditure was incurred in the following areas: 

 

Class 
 

Class costs ($) Agencies Agency costs ($) 

Advertising agencies 6549.32 Market Creations 2632.00 

  Albany Advertiser 77.50 

  Derby Visitor’s Centre 400.00 

  AdCorp 1266.31 

  Kununurra Visitor’s Centre 731.82 

  WA Newspapers 318.60 

  Lizart Productions 600.00 

  Telstra 523.09 

Market research 
organisations 

   

Polling organisations Nil Nil Nil 

Direct mail 
organisations 

Nil Nil Nil 

Media advertising 
organisations 

Nil Nil Nil 
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
(Disability Services Act 1993, s29 and Schedule 3 of the Disability Services 
Regulations 2004)) 
 
1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access 

the services of, and any events organised by, a public authority. 
 
Flexibility is a priority of the Commission in meeting the needs of all its customers, 
especially those with disabilities. 
 
2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access 

the buildings and other facilities of a public authority. 
 
The Kununurra and Derby offices are in single storey buildings designed for disability 
access. The Broome office is on the first floor with no lift, however, the Commission 
has alternative arrangements in place for people with disabilities to access its 
services in Broome. 
 
3. People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a format that 

will enable them to access the information as readily as other people are able to 
access it. 

 
People with disabilities may access information produced by the Commission in a 
variety of formats that include verbal, written and online information. Information in 
other formats is available on request.  
 
 
4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff 

of a public authority as other people receive from the staff of that public authority. 
 
All staff have continued to meet the needs of people with disabilities, when they visit 
the Commission’s offices or make enquiries for information, with respect and dignity. 
 
  
5. People with disabilities receive the same opportunities as other people to make 

complaints to a public authority. 
 
People with disabilities have the same opportunity as others to make complaints to 
the Commission. No complaints have been received in 2012/2013.  
  
 
6. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate 

in any public consultation by a public authority. 
 
As previously reported, the majority of people with disabilities that access the 
Commission’s services are Aboriginal people that may also have literacy difficulties 
and a limited understanding of English. The Commission continues to provide a 
flexible and inclusive service to ensure these people are consulted if they wish.  
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, s31 (1)) 
 
In accordance with the Public Sector Management Act 1994, s31 in 2012/2013 I am 
pleased to provide the following compliance report: 
 
 

WA Public Sector Code of Ethics 
 
The Commission’s Board and Staff are familiar with the WA Public Sector Code of 
Ethics which has been made available to both in hard copy and electronically. The 
Code is also included in new Board Member and Staff Induction Packages.  
 
The Board has participated in a specially delivered Accountability and Ethical 
Decision Making (AEDM) Training by the Public Sector Commission. Staff accessed 
on-line AEDM materials through the Public Sector Commission’s website, pending 
training. 
 
There have been no reports of non compliance. 
 
 
Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management 
 
In 2012/2013 the Commission reviewed and updated its Governance and Human 
Resource Policies including those pertaining to the Public Sector Standards in 
Human Resource Management. Staff have access to these policies in hard copy in 
each of the Commissions three offices. 
 
A new Governance Manual has been compiled for the Board. 
 
No breach claims have been received. 
 
 
Kimberley Development Commission Board and Staff Codes of Conduct 
 
The Commission has reviews its Board and Staff Code of Conduct on an annual 
basis and updates them as appropriate in accordance with the WA Code of Ethics 
and the Public Sector Commission’s Good Governance Guide.  
 
There have been no reports of non compliance.  

 
Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Chief Executive 
Date: 10 September 2013 
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Reporting on Recordkeeping Plans 
(State Records Act 2000 and State Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6) 
 
In accordance with the State Records Commission, Standard 2, Principle 6 - 
Compliance, the Commission reports the following: 
 
The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s recordkeeping systems are 
evaluated not less than once every five years. 
 
The Commission last undertook a full review of the efficiency and effectiveness of its 
recordkeeping system prior to preparing its second Recordkeeping Plan in 2008. 
 
The Commission has commenced a full evaluation of its recordkeeping prior to 
preparing a new Recordkeeping Plan and plans to submit the evaluation to the State 
Records Office by 31 December 2013. 
 
 
The organisation conducts a recordkeeping training program. 
 
A formalised Recordkeeping Training program exists and supports ongoing informal 
staff development about recordkeeping across the Commission’s three offices. All 
staff have undertaken internal recordkeeping refresher training in 2013. 
 
 
The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program is reviewed 
from time to time. 
 
The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program has been 
reviewed and the program updated, consistent with improvements in the 
Commission’s recordkeeping storage. 
 
 
The organisation’s induction program addresses employee roles and responsibilities 
in regard to their compliance with the organisations recordkeeping plan. 
 
An introduction to the Commission’s Records Management is included in the 
induction of new staff.  
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Government Policy Requirements  
 

Substantive Equality 
(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-23: Implementation of the Policy 
Framework for Substantive Equality) 
 
The Commission has no obligation to implement or report against the Policy 
Framework for Substantive Equality. The Commission’s substantial commitment to 
achieving substantive equality in the Kimberley is evidenced elsewhere in this report. 
 
 

Occupational Safety and Health 
(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2012-05: Code of Practice: Occupational 
Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector) 
 
Statement of the Commission’s commitment to occupational safety and health and 
injury management with an emphasis on Executive commitment.  
 
The Commission’s Board and Senior Staff are committed to ensuring a high 
standard of occupational safety and health and injury management. Evidence of this 
commitment is provided in the refurbishment of its three offices with ergonomic 
furniture in 2012/2013. 
 
 
Description of the formal mechanism for consultation with employees on 
occupational safety and health matters. 
 
Given the small size of the organisation the mechanism of consultation is for the 
Commission’s Senior Staff and employees to liaise directly with one another. 
 
 
Statement of compliance with the injury management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.  
 
In 2012/2013 the Commission complied with the injury management requirements of 
the Act and reviewed and updated its Workers Compensation and Injury 
Management Policy and Procedure. A Return to Work Plan proforma is included with 
the procedure. 
 
 
Statement confirming that an assessment of the occupational safety and health 
management system has been completed (within previous five years).  
 
A self evaluation of the Commission’s Occupational Safety and Health management 
system was completed in 2011.  
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Report of Annual performance for 2012/2013 
 

Indicator 
 

Target 2012/2013 Actual 2012/2013 

Number of fatalities 
 

Zero (0) Zero (0) 

Lost time injury/diseases (LTI/D) 
incidence rate 
 

Zero (0) Zero (0) 

Lost time injury severity rate 
 

Zero (0) Zero (0) 

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within i) 13 and ii) 
26 weeks. 

Greater than or 
equal to 80% 
return to work 
within 26 weeks 
 

Zero (0) injured 
workers 

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities 
 

Greater than or 
equal to 80% 

50% (due limited 
availability of training 
in the Kimberley). 

 
 


